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Friday, July 27, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  Good morning, please be seated.


We are a little bit late because we were going through some of the documents that we will be looking at shortly.


Before we start, though, I would like to add to the schedule that I announced yesterday when I announced the dates for the argument-in-chief and oral submissions.


What I neglected to add was that for those intervenors that cannot attend to give oral submissions, we will accept written submissions on August 21st.  I think the Board has made its preference clear, but we do recognize people may have scheduling problems.  So for those intervenors that can only do written, August 21st.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Then, Mr. Thompson -- first of all, Mr. Millar, could you give exhibit numbers to the three pieces that we have received or two pieces we've received this morning?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There is the retainer letter to Mr. Rosenkranz dated June 5th, 2012.  We will call that K11.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K11.1:  RETAINER LETTER TO MR. ROSENKRANZ DATED JUNE 5, 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  And then there were a series of e-mails, largely between Mr. Thompson and Mr. Rosenkranz.  We will call that K11.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K11.2:  SERIES OF E-MAILS LARGELY BETWEEN MR. THOMPSON AND MR. ROSENKRANZ.

MS. HARE:  I think the retainer letter is pretty clear, but, Mr. Thompson, do you want to bring our attention to anything in the e-mails that are in 11.2?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, apart from some colourful language.


MS. HARE:  Which we enjoyed.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  The only point I would like to make on this is I was responsible for retaining Mr. Rosenkranz, and it took place, as you can see, sort of in the March, April, May, time frame.


I just wanted the Board to understand that what was going on at that time was the issues arising pertaining to the 0038 draft order, and Mr. Rosenkranz had helped parties in that case and he was helping me with those issues.


So there was kind of a continuum going on here, and that may help you understand the cryptic exchanges that are going back and forth.  But other than that, no, there is nothing specific that I wanted to draw to your attention, unless there were some questions you had of it.


MS. HARE:  I didn't.  Did you?  Okay, thank you.


Then, Mr. Thompson, could you introduce your witness, please?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  The witness for CME, CCC, City of Kitchener and FRPO is Mr. John Rosenkranz, and I would ask that he be sworn, please.

CME, CCC, CITY OF KITCHENER AND FRPO – PANEL 1


John A. Rosenkranz, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Rosenkranz, I hope you can see me from this long distance, but I have to keep a certain space between myself and Mr. Smith; otherwise, we might come to blows.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  There's been marked here as exhibits a document entitled "Union's 2013 Rebasing Application, Storage and Transportation Issues".  That is Exhibit K10.7.  And then marked as Exhibit K10.8 were interrogatory responses pertaining to the evidence of John Rosenkranz on behalf of CME, CCC, CCK and FRPO.


Before I get to those documents, I would like, first, to address your professional qualifications.  So if we might put up on the screen attachment 1 to Exhibit K10.7?


MR. SMITH:  I don't know whether this assists my friends, but I don't intend to object to Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, if that moves things along.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's a pleasant surprise, but I will take you through some of this, then, Mr. Rosenkranz.


You are currently a principal of North Side Energy LLC; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That's my own consulting firm.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  You have been consulting, according to your CV, for about six years?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And your education, which is shown on the second page of this document, you hold a bachelor of arts degree in economics from George Washington University; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  You obtained that, I understand, in 1976?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then you performed graduate studies in economics from 1979 to 1983 and completed all course and examination requirements for a Ph.D.?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And following that, I understand you were an advisory economist for the Chicago Board of Trade from 1983 to 1986?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thereafter, manager gas modelling group, Planmetrics in Chicago?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  During which you developed and implemented gas supply planning systems for gas distribution companies?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.  And I might mention that Consumers Gas at that time, here in Toronto, was one of the clients for our modelling system, so I did spend some time here in Toronto way back then.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Following that, you were vice president EnerPro Inc., where you were a consultant to gas distribution companies; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then from '92 to '97 you worked with J. Makowski Co. and supervised a team that provided project management and marketing support for natural gas pipeline and storage projects; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then from '97 to '99 you were director, business development with PG&E Gas Transmission in Boston?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's true, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And during that period, you identified and managed development projects and investment opportunities involving natural gas pipelines, underground storage and LNG peaking plants; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then from 2000 to 2006, you were director gas origination for Calpine Corporation, and your responsibilities there included developing and implementing fuel supply plans for gas-fired power plants, negotiating and managing contracts with natural gas suppliers and transporters, and participating in gas pipeline rate cases and other regulatory proceedings; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And was one of those proceedings the GreenField pipeline project here in Canada with -- involving Union Gas?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  Calpine and Mitsui are the owners of that project, and I was involved in supporting that application to build the 2-kilometre pipeline to connect the plant to Vector Pipeline.


MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of your recent projects, you have been a consultant to the Maine Public Advocate for gas utility rate cases.  What interest does the Maine Public Advocate represent?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The Maine Public Advocate represents primarily residential consumer issues or interests in proceedings, both before the Maine Public Utility Commission and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.


MR. THOMPSON:  You have conducted a gas utility procurement review for the Arizona Corporation Commission staff.  Is that an Arizona regulator?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  You have restructured long-term gas supply transportation and energy management contracts for cogeneration plants in Connecticut and Florida?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  You are an advisor to the Ontario Power Authority on natural gas issues affecting long-term power contracts.  Is that an ongoing relationship?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I have been working with the Ontario Power Authority since September of 2006 on a continuous basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you have assisted Ontario Energy Board Staff in developing new gas transmission access and reporting rules?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That was the STAR proceeding several years ago.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And you were a witness in the Union Gas 2000 deferral account case where, as I understand it, the Board accepted you as one qualified to give opinion evidence on storage and transmission issues?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  In terms of your regulatory proceedings, they are described on the second page of your professional experience document.  And I won't go through them -- we pretty much covered them -- but I do note that in Ontario you did provide a report in the Natural Gas Market Review Proceeding.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I did.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you also provided some work in the IPSP proceeding, as described on the second page of this document?

MR. ROSENKRANTZ:  Yes.  I was asked by the Ontario Power Authority to put together a report on the natural gas market implications of the IPSP at that time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am requesting that Mr. Rosenkranz be accepted as a witness qualified to provide opinion evidence with respect to the storage and transportation issues in this proceeding.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We have already heard Mr. Smith say that they're not objecting.  I assume nobody else is objecting?  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, Mr. Rosenkranz, just a few questions.  Did you prepare Exhibit K10.7, the document entitled "Union's 2013 rebasing application, storage and transportation issues"?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I did.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are there any material corrections to be made to that document?

MR. ROSENKRANTZ:  No, I have no corrections.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did you also prepare the responses to interrogatories that are marked as Exhibit K10.8?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I did.

MR. THOMPSON:  And are there any material corrections to be made to those responses?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you adopt under oath and as your evidence in these proceedings the information provided in these documents?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And finally, there's been marked in this proceeding the formal engagement letter that you signed; it is Exhibit K11.1.  It was signed on -- I think by you on June the 6th of 2012.

Does that reflect the terms of your engagement with your sponsors?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it does.

MR. THOMPSON:  And leading up to that, there were an exchange -- there's an exchange of e-mails that's been filed, K11.2.  Have you had an opportunity to review that with Mr. Quinn and I last night?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And does that reflect the emergence of the arrangements that were made with you on behalf of the 

-- of your sponsors?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it appears to be very complete.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I understand, Mr. MacIntosh, you have a few cross-examination questions?

MR. MacINTOSH:  I do, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh:

MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Rosenkranz --


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Hello.

MR. MacINTOSH:  -- I am around the corner.  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.  My questions relate to your evidence on the separation of Parkway West costs from the costs allocated to Union's Dawn-Trafalgar transportation services, M12, et cetera.

Please turn up your evidence, K10.7, specifically page 3 and recommendations 1 and 2.

Would you please confirm that if the recommendations are adopted, then the impact on the 2013 revenue requirement for in-franchise and ex-franchise customers is as shown in attachment 2 to your evidence?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That is my rough estimate of what the relative impact would be.

MR. MacINTOSH:  So looking at attachment 2, first you estimate the 2013 cost impact as negative 1.6 million, the reduction for in-franchise customers, and positive 1.6 million, an increase for ex-franchise customers.

And the notes indicate the source of the assumptions regarding capital, operating, depreciation costs is Union's evidence at J.G-1-7-5 and J.G-10-10-4.

I would like you to turn to your response to Energy Probe's interrogatory, and that reference is L.G-10-3-1.  And I would like you to look at part a) of your response.

In part a), you were asked to break down the positive impacts on in-franchise rate classes, and this is provided in the first nine rows.

However, it appears from row 10 that, in fact, in-franchise customers in the north and east will see an increase totalling 142,000 in 2013.

Can you confirm and discuss this?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  What I did was look at the change in the reallocation of the revenue requirement associated with the Parkway station, and using the same -- the remaining aspects of the cost allocation methodology that is part of Union's evidence, worked through how those relative costs would be shifted to individual customer groups.

The reason that there is an increase in the north and east is that those are customer groups that are -- have been assigned Parkway costs to move gas from Dawn storage to those downstream market areas.

MR. MacINTOSH:  In part (b), you were asked to estimate the impact on Enbridge customers that use M12 service.

Can you confirm that the response indicates about half of the 2013 cost increase, or about $820,000, would be borne by Enbridge customers?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Using the proportion of Enbridge M12 costs and assuming that those costs are all being passed through to Enbridge customers, based on the fact that approximately 50 percent of the M12 capacity going to the end of the pipeline is held by Enbridge, that was my estimate of what the potential cost impact could be, yes.

MR. MacINTOSH:  In part e), you were asked to estimate the impact going forward, assuming Union's plans for Parkway West loss of critical unit proceed.  The response indicates about 3.2 million in 2014.

Can you confirm the cost changes we've just discussed could be twice as big in 2014?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is the way I estimated it, based on the fact that, from the numbers that Union provided, the revenue requirement for the Parkway station would roughly double, so that the cost impact, both positive and negative, would be double what I estimated originally.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madame Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, can you proceed with cross-examination, please?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Having regard to Mr. Thompson's comment at the beginning, I would like to introduce myself as Michael Penny.  My transition is now complete.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rosenkranz, it's actually Crawford Smith.  Good to see you again, sir.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Just a few questions for you.  I would ask you to turn up your report dated May 16th, 2012.  And I would ask you to turn to page 10 of that -- 10 of that report.

And you say at page 10 at the very bottom paragraph, line 26:
"Even though Union's storage assets are operated on an integrated basis, Union is still able to tie an individual storage transaction to either the utility storage account or the non-utility storage account."


And you are of course aware that that comes from the 0038 case?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That was something that Union confirmed.  It is also based on my understanding of the way that transactions can be tracked in separate books, as a general course, in terms of a market or a gas supply management firm.

MR. SMITH:  Now, is it your view, sir, that revenue from the sale of excess utility space up to 100 petaJoules should go to ratepayers, subject to the 10 percent incentive for Union, as found in NGEIR?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Could you repeat that, sorry?

MR. SMITH:  Simply storage revenue, as I understand your evidence, storage revenue relating to transactions using the excess utility space - so that space up to 100 petaJoules - would go to ratepayers subject to the incentive of 10 percent.  It is 90/10 sharing?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I just wanted to be careful to -- that I understood which storage space, utility storage space, we're discussing.

It is my view that the optimization of all of the -- any or all of the 100 pJs of storage space that's -- the costs of which are included in utility rates, should be for the benefit of customers or the margins on those transactions, and that the Board has determined that there is a 10 percent incentive that would be retained by Union Gas.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  So I think I'm agreeing with you.

MR. SMITH:  I think you are, as well.  And then the amount over 100 petaJoules, the non-utility space, would go to Union and its shareholders?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  The costs of that additional space is the responsibility of the non-utility business, and the margins on those transactions are retained by the non-utility business.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it your view is the same with respect to either side, regardless of the length of the transaction?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.  I think that's one of the points I tried to make, that, as a principle, it depends on what the assets are that underpin the transaction, not what the transaction itself is.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  So we have your evidence, whether it is a short-term or long-term transaction under 100 pJs, that would be 90-10 for ratepayers, and if it's a long-term or short-term transaction over 100 pJs, that would be to the shareholder; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's my opinion, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that's true regardless of what the price is of any particular transaction on either side of the 100 pJs?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm not sure what you mean regardless of the price.  My concern is with the 100 pJs of utility storage space, the fact that there is value there when those -- either long term, short term, day to day, if space is available and can be a value obtained in the secondary market, that should be tracked and pursued on behalf of utility ratepayers.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I just wanted to pin this down.

Let's say that the price obtained and the margin earned on transactions that use up the excess utility space, so up to the 100 pJs, are a price of $4.00, hypothetically.

And then let's say that it so happens the prices later in the year go up and that the value of transactions that are taking place and using the non-utility storage space are higher.

You are not suggesting any sort of adjustment for that, are you?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am not suggesting any sort of allocation of costs or margins from a pool of transactions.

I think that in order to protect ratepayers, the assets themselves should be identified and it should be noted at the time the transaction is made whether that is being made from the utility space or non-utility space.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, that is helpful.  Thank you.  Can I ask you -- I had given to your counsel, and I think you have a copy, a compendium, and I believe Board Staff should have a copy.  If I could just have that marked as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, can you show me which...

MR. SMITH:  It says "Union Gas Limited Cross-Examination Compendium for Mr. John Rosenkranz".

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we have it.  Thank you.  K11.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K11.3:  UNION GAS LIMITED CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR MR. JOHN ROSENKRANZ.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, I don't think we have that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I will bring it up.

[Mr. Millar distributes compendium to Board Panel]


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rosenkranz, just a couple of -- one preliminary matter.  Can I ask you to turn in the compendium to page 21?  Yes, page 21.

So you will see here the cover page for Union's RP-2003-0063 case, which was Union's 2004 cost of service proceeding.  Do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  If you turn over the page to page 22, this is an excerpt of the decision.  I just wanted to put the point of principle to you.

You will see at page 176 in the third paragraph the Board indicates:
"The revenue requirement established by the Board in rates cases such as the present case represents the system's overall financial burden.  In order for rates to be just and reasonable, which is the statutory requirement, each rate class should bear a proportion of that burden roughly coincident with the cost incurred by the system operator, in this case Union Gas, in providing the necessary infrastructure and services to arrange for, store and transport the commodity to that rate class's members." 

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see it.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I certainly agree that cost allocation should be done in conformance with basic cost causation principles, and that is what this appears to say.

MR. SMITH:  And if I can ask you to turn to your report, sir, at page 1, dealing with Parkway station costs.  Have you got that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  You say at the beginning of line 15 that:
"In Union's cost allocation study, the costs of transporting gas on the Dawn-Parkway transmission system are divided into two categories: (1) the cost of the compressors needed to move gas from the Dawn Hub into the Dawn-Parkway system."

And those are Dawn station costs; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then all remaining costs, which are Dawn Trafalgar Easterly costs; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Those are allocated using the DT trans allocator?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct, which is the commodity distance-based.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  It is the distance weighted commodity allocator; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  You said it better than I did.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you go on to say:
"Dawn-Trafalgar Easterly costs include Union's transmission pipelines, the compressors at Lobo, Bright, and Parkway, and the metering facilities at Kirkwall and Parkway."

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You then go on to say:
"Parkway Station costs are allocated to rate classes based on design day demand..."

And I think that is a mistake.  I think you mean Dawn station costs are allocated to rate classes based on design day demand:
"... while Dawn-Trafalgar Easterly costs are allocated using a distance-based 'commodity-kilometres' methodology."


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  You are absolutely correct.  That should say Dawn station costs, not Parkway station costs.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, if I can ask you to turn back to the compendium, I have, beginning at page 1, an excerpt from the EBRO-493/494 decision.

Do you see that?  That was a very long decision; that is why it is an excerpt.

Have you got the decision, sir?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I have it in front of me.

MR. SMITH:  And this -- there are a few things that are interesting about this case, but this was, I believe, the first application by Centra and Union, as they had recently become a combined entity at that time.

But if I can ask you to turn to page 2 -- or page 3, my apologies.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SMITH:  You see "Union M12 cost allocation"?  Have you got that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then if we look over a number of pages, you will see over on page -- I believe it should be page 16 -- page 14, I'm sorry, under the heading "Allocation of Dawn compressor station carrying costs" -- do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  You're at the bottom of page 14?

MR. SMITH:  Page 14, heading 9.5, "Allocation of Dawn compressor station carrying costs."

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see it now.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Were you aware of this decision when you provided your report?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I have not reviewed this decision.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And I take it that means both before you filed your evidence and subsequently, you haven't reviewed this decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Until first thing this morning when I got an e-mail with your compendium.  That's the first time I had a chance to look at this decision.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, I provided the compendium to your counsel last night, but we will go slowly through it, then.

Looking back at page 3, beginning at section 9.3, the Board begins a review of the M12 cost allocation methodology.

And it is fairly apparent when you look through the portion of this -- this portion of the decision, going all the way from page -- paragraph that we started at, 9.3.1, all the way through to section 9.5, that there was considerable controversy about the cost allocation method that Union was proposing in relation to the M12 rate class.

Can we agree on that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I understood from reading this that there certainly were -- there was a controversy.  That makes sense.

MR. SMITH:  And M12 shippers at that time, most notably Enbridge and TCPL, were taking the position that they were bearing a disproportionate share of Dawn-Parkway costs; fair?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I suspect that is what they were arguing.  Again, I haven't spent much time with this.

MR. SMITH:  Well, if we go over to 9.4.13, "Position of the parties," it starts with Union, and then halfway through that paragraph, you will see that there were both TCPL and Consumers Gas witnesses who testified.

And then there were rather large adjustments that were sought by both TCPL and Consumers.  Indeed, at paragraph 9.4.20 -- which I think is at page 8 of the compendium –- sorry, page 10.  I numbered mine myself.  I made a big mistake.

You will see that Consumers at that point was looking to shift $19.3 million to Union's in-franchise customers.

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  And my understanding from reading this is that that was based on a position that the mileage-based rates should be replaced with a postage-based rate.

MR. SMITH:  That's right.  They didn't like the distance-weighted demand allocation.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That appears to be the basic issue.

MR. SMITH:  Right.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  And if you can continue over with 9.5, there was also some controversy in relation to the methodology used to allocate Dawn compressor station carrying costs, and the Board made certain findings in relation to that.  And you will see those all the way over at page 19, paragraph 9.6.6, where the Board ultimately accepts Union's approach.  Do you see that, sir?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will say that what you sent out last night was truncated.  That last section wasn't included in that package, but when I read it just now, it appears that the issue was only with respect to the allocation of Dawn compressor costs between storage and transmission, and that it appears that the Board directed that there be more study of that, yes.

That was my read of it.

MR. SMITH:  No, no.  That is absolutely fair.  Just a couple of additional questions in relation to this.

Are you aware, sir, that the allocation of Dawn-Trafalgar easterly costs and the Dawn-Parkway system has remained the same since this decision by the Board in 1997?  Were you aware of that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can't confirm that, because I did not go back and research in terms of exactly what the allocation -- I would accept that that is probably the case, that this has been a longstanding cost allocation methodology that's been used for the Dawn-Trafalgar facility costs.

MR. SMITH:  Just so that we can put some numbers on it, can we agree that of the Dawn-Trafalgar easterly costs, in-franchise ratepayers pay approximately 16 percent of those costs?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Based on the initial application Union has made, yes, that's what I calculated, as well.

MR. SMITH:  And the balance, the 84 percent of Dawn-Trafalgar easterly costs are paid for by ex-franchise ratepayers?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would be a little careful there.  The remaining is paid by M12 shippers, and the M12 shippers does include in-franchise customers that use M12 service in order to satisfy their Parkway delivery obligation.

It is also used by power generators under the billing contract demand option, to move their receipt point to Dawn.

So you cannot -- you can't make the -- you can't make the conclusion that all costs that go to M12 shippers are going to ex-franchise customers.  There are some in-franchise customers, as well.

MR. SMITH:  Right, and we will come to that in a minute.

Now, if we look back at the 493/494 decision, a couple of propositions from that decision I would like to put to you.

If you turn to paragraph 9.4.10, which should be at the bottom of page 7?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I have that.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  What is indicated in the decision is Union noted that east end deliveries -- and that is the Parkway obligation, correct?  It is the obligation to deliver gas at Parkway?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That was my interpretation, yes.

MR. SMITH:
"Union noted that the east end deliveries are a fundamental part of the peak design of the Dawn-Trafalgar system, which allows the design capacity of the system to be smaller than otherwise required if all volumes had to move from Dawn under peak design day conditions.  This reduction in capacity and facilities benefits all users of the Dawn-Trafalgar system, including ex-franchise shippers (Rate M12) and in-franchise customers in the form of lower rates."

And I take it you agree with that, as well?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I agree that the Parkway delivery obligation does reduce the need to build facilities from west to east on the Dawn-Trafalgar system, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if we continue in the decision, sir, if you go over to the Board's findings on page 12 under heading paragraph 9.4.13, do you see that at the very bottom?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just for the record --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, 9.4.31, yes.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Three-one.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, my mistake.  Do you have that?
"The Board is satisfied that Union's cost allocation study properly reflects the peak winter design day.  The unchallenged evidence is that at design conditions, the system operates as an unidirectional west-east transmission pipeline."

Pausing there, I take it you agree that at design condition, the system operates as a unidirectional west-east transmission pipeline?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is my understanding of the system design; correct.

MR. SMITH:  Continuing:
"The fact that the pipeline is multi-functional and operates as a bidirectional integrated pipeline at other times does not change the fact that on design day, both in-franchise and ex-franchise gas is flowing easterly and that it requires considerable upstream capacity and additional compression to provide delivery service to the M12 customers at Parkway and other..."

Pausing there, and as you recognized, sir, M12 customers can include capacity for in-franchise customers:
"...and other east end delivery points specified in their contracts."

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see it.  I am just --


MR. SMITH:  Take a moment to read it.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay, I think I've got it.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you agree with this passage by the Board?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I think it makes sense.

MR. SMITH:  We touched on this before, sir, but you are aware, obviously, that Union holds TCPL capacity from Parkway to various easterly and northerly and westerly delivery points to meet peak demand from Parkway?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe that -- I believe that there is some Parkway TCPL capacity to easterly points, yes.  I am not sure how much.  I didn't go into that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Smith, just before we continue, I would like to go back to the second-last question that you asked Mr. Rosenkranz about the paragraph at 9.4.31.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  So is he confirming to you that the system continues to operate on a peak day in a west to east flow today versus at the time of this decision, being 1997?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  And I took from his answer - and maybe if you disagree, Mr. Rosenkranz, you can tell me - that both in-franchise and ex-franchise gas is flowing easterly and that it requires considerable upstream capacity and additional compression to provide delivery service to the M12 customers at Parkway and other east end delivery points in their contracts.

Do you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I agree that the design is based on west to east and continues to be today.  I agree that there is -- the Dawn-Trafalgar system, the pipeline itself, is required to get gas to Parkway for customers that have downstream -- have rights to deliver gas either to Enbridge or to TCPL at Parkway.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh asked you a few questions.  I just want to pick up on something that he asked you about the costs that would go to Enbridge.

And you will recall, of the 1.6 million that you had estimated, that half of that, roughly, would go to Enbridge customers, assuming those costs are passed on?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Assuming the costs are passed on.  Assuming they're not doing other things with the capacity to mitigate those costs, but, yes, assuming that -- that would be Enbridge Gas Distribution as an entity.  That would be the additional cost of their M12 service, in rough terms.

MR. SMITH:  And -- well, it's not an issue in this proceeding, as we've talked about.  On Parkway, Parkway West, you identified a number.  I can't recall, but it was in the neighbourhood of $3 or $3.3 million; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  When you add what Union had indicated to be the -- I'm not even sure it was a full first year cost of service of Parkway West.  I added that to the -- what was in the 2013 filing and came up with that roughly doubling of the Parkway cost.

MR. SMITH:  And just so I understand, the same halving would apply to those costs as applied to the 1.6 million?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  All else being equal, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  A couple of final questions, sir, in relation to K11.2.

This is the series of e-mails that you exchanged primarily with Mr. Thompson and his colleague, Mr. DeRose.  Do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have them, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn, starting from the back, fourth page from the back?  And in the middle of page there should be an e-mail from you.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We might have difficulty.  I'm not sure I have exactly the same package.  If you can identify the date and --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, certainly.  The e-mail is an e-mail from you sent March 6th, 2012 at 2:07 p.m. to Mr. Thompson, copying Mr. DeRose re Union rebasing.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe I have that.  It starts, I think, "the big one".

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  "The big one", and you talk about Parkway West costs in the first paragraph, and then you talk about the Heritage and St. Clair pools in the second paragraph.

And in the third paragraph you refer to FT RAM, and what you say there, sir, is that:
"The large reduction in the upstream transportation exchange revenue in 2013 is based on Union's assumption that TCPL will be successful in eliminating FT RAM credits in 2012."


Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Then you go on to say:
"If that doesn't happen and the deferral account is not reinstated, Union could end up with another windfall."


Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SMITH:  The implication of that sentence, sir, is that the exchange revenue would have been captured by the deferral account had it been in place during the incentive period; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  This is -- this was done without any investigation and details of that particular exchange deferral account.

I will agree that it was based on my assumption at the time, that those would have been costs that would have been captured in one of the deferral accounts. 

MR. SMITH:  Well, and so we're clear as to which deferral account, you are talking about deferral account 179-63 -- 69; correct?  179-69? 

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I understood there were -- I didn't go into the detail of which -- I understood that the -- certain transportation-related deferral accounts had been eliminated during the incentive ratemaking period. 

I didn't go into detail in terms of which one would have captured that, so I can't confirm the number, but that was my understanding at the time. 

MR. SMITH:  Well, I will be fair to you.

If you turn to the last page of this package, you were asked by Mr. Thompson to set out a list of areas where you thought you could be of assistance to him. 

What we see on the last page and the second-last page is a list that you prepared; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then if we look at the very last item, very last item on the page, deferral accounts for transactional services, 179-69 and 179-73, were eliminated by the EB-2007-0606 settlement agreement.

And those are the deferral accounts you were thinking of? 

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would presume that that was the thread that I was assuming that, at that time, it was one of those -- one of those accounts would have captured it.

That was not an issue that I ended up pursuing on behalf of the sponsors, so I really didn't go into more detail after that.

MR. SMITH:  No, it wasn't, but it was certainly an area where, at first instance, you felt that you had expertise to assist the Board, wasn't it? 

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In respect to having knowledge of the FT RAM program and having been following what was going on with TransCanada, I saw that there was -- the question about whether that should be included in the -- how that should be handled in 2013 rates was something that I thought should be an issue, that someone should look at, and I was the one to look at it.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, do you have redirect? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Just one moment. 

MS. HARE:  Sure. 

MR. THOMPSON:  No questions. 

MS. HARE:  No redirect?  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, yes.

Re-Examination by Mr. Thompson


Mr. Rosenkranz, just on the last discussion you had with Mr. Quinn, in terms of the --


MS. HARE:  You mean Mr. Smith?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Penny, Smith, the guy down to the left, whatever.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Ha'penny.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just don't call me late for dinner.  Is that the...

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  On this issue of FT RAM, could you just -- well, were you asked to do anything specific with respect to that FT RAM issue by your sponsors? 

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I was not. 

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, Mr. Rosenkranz.  Your testimony was helpful, and you are now excused.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  We will take our break now while you reassemble your cost allocation panel.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:
And we will come back at, say, 10 to 11:00.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:34 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:03 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Ms. Girvan, I understand you are first to cross-examine the panel.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 7, RESUMED

Harold Pankrac, Previously Sworn


Robin Stevenson, Previously Sworn


Greg Tetreault, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, thank you.  Panel, I am Julie Girvan from the Consumers Council of Canada.  We were told that some earlier questions should be posed to you, so I am bringing some of those forward right now.

If you could bring up Exhibit H3, tab 10, schedule 1, which is the summary of S&T transactional margin included in 2013 rates?

In addition, if you could bring up Exhibit J.C-4-5-2, and that's an interrogatory from my client that sets out the summary revenue from storage and transportation of gas.

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure, Ms. Girvan, we have your second reference paper, paper-wise, anyway.  I may need a second.

MS. GIRVAN:  Maybe they could put it up on the...  It is J.C-4-5-2.

Okay.  So I am trying to reconcile these two schedules, and the problem I'm having, first, is I realize now that H3, tab 1, schedule 1 has been updated to reflect the higher margin included in rates, but, previously, the two schedules didn't add up.  They didn't have the same revenue numbers under column (h) on the J.C-4-5-2.

And I'm just wondering if this might be easier through an undertaking, is to reconcile the numbers under column (h) and the numbers under column (a).  Would that be possible?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.1:  TO RECONCILE NUMBERS UNDER COLUMN (A) IN EXHIBIT H3, TAB 10, SCHEDULE 1 AND COLUMN (H) INTERROGATORY RESPONSE TO J.C-4-5-2.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Because in the original two documents that were filed at the same time, the numbers were inconsistent and it is not clear to me why; and, if they are, then maybe you could help me with that.

Now, if you could just turn to -- I would like to keep up H3, tab 10, schedule 1.  I'm just trying to get a sense of the S&T margin that is included in rates.

If you could also pull up Exhibit H1, tab 1, page 4?

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So at the bottom it talks about the resulting short-term storage and balancing margin available for sharing assumed in the calculation of the Phase I deficiency was $7.535 million.

I just wondered if you could reconcile that with lines 1 to 3 on H3, tab 10, schedule 1?

MR. TETREAULT:  Based on the -- I should clarify.  Based on the updated July filing --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- the number you referenced in terms of the Phase I deficiency associated with short-term storage is 7.704 --


MS. GIRVAN:  I see that.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- million.  And if you can turn to Exhibit H1, tab 1, page 7, it is table 3, and what table 3 attempts to do, or does, is reconciles the Phase I margin associated with short-term storage with the Phase II margin associated with short-term storage.

And what you will see in this table is that as a result of performing the cost study and increased allocated costs, the total margin in Phase II is 5.742.  I'm on line 5 -- sorry, is 5.742 relative to the Phase I number of 7.704 million.  That's the total margin number.

And the Phase II column in that table, if we turn now back to Exhibit H3, tab 10, schedule 1, reconciles to that schedule.

So the total Phase II margin of 5,742,000 can be seen on Exhibit H3, tab 10, schedule 1 at column (c), line 4.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. TETREAULT:  So that is the reconciliation of that series of numbers.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, again, going back to H3, tab 10, schedule 1, what I would like to just clarify is, in terms of the allocated cost, which is line -- column (b), can you explain to me where those numbers come from?

I realize there is a reference down below, but I want to understand how those numbers were developed in terms of the allocated cost that is used to derive the margins.

MR. TETREAULT:  Those numbers would be the result of the preparation of the 2013 cost allocation study.  Those are allocated costs directly from the cost study.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So they're the allocated costs directly for these services?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, if I look at lines 1 to 3 on, again, H3, tab 10, schedule 1, if the actual revenues in column (a) are greater, can you tell me what happens?  How do those flow through to the deferral account, because lines 1 to 3 have deferral account treatment?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So if the actual revenues are higher, they're captured in the deferral account; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And that's allocated 90/10, ratepayer to shareholder?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  What the deferral account calculation will ultimately do is compare the total margin included in rates to the actual margin associated with short-term storage and balancing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if your actual costs are less, that will flow through, as well, to the deferral account?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, at lines 5 to 18, the difference there is that there is no deferral account treatment; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if the actual revenue in line (a) is higher, what happens?  I'm assuming that that goes directly to the shareholder, depending on the actual allocated cost?

MR. TETREAULT:  It would form part of utility earnings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Just another follow-up.  We've heard that given the uncertainty around the TCPL FT RAM program, that Union may be willing to have a deferral account or a variance account in order to capture revenues, if that program continues.

And my question to you, as the cost allocation panel:  If such an account was approved, what would be your proposal with respect to the allocation of those costs, those revenues?

So assuming, for example, that you would have a variance account or you would embed a certain level -- this might be a proposal -- you would embed a certain level of the FT RAM in rates, how would you propose that those revenues be allocated?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Ms. Girvan.  I haven't turned my mind to how we might look to allocate a margin associated with a deferral account that doesn't exist at this time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But let's say assuming that various parties made a proposal that that should exist.  Would you have a proposal in terms of how those are allocated?  Could you think about that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think it is fair to say that should there be a deferral account established, we would need to consider how to -- how to allocate the dollars in that deferral account.

MS. GIRVAN:  So would you be prepared to go away and think about what might make sense in terms of cost causality?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that, but I should advise that -- I believe this came up with Ms. Elliott -- there is an interrogatory that deals with this very issue.  And the question was put:  If there were a deferral account, what options are there for the Board to consider?  And one of them was the -- essentially the streaming of the benefit to north customers in order to mitigate northern rate increases.

So there is -- this wasn't Mr. Tetreault's responsibility, but this did come up with Ms. Elliott, and there is an interrogatory that deals with that. 

MS. HARE:  But I think that -- I will let Ms. Girvan follow up, but is asking more than just northern customers, which classes of customers.

MS. GIRVAN:  I am just looking for some advice from the panel, given that your responsibility is cost allocation.

So assuming that we have revenues related to FT RAM in an account, either embedded in rates or a deferral account, which would be cleared later, what would be your proposal in terms of cost causality as to how those revenues would be allocated, both whether it is north or south, and between the -- amongst the various rate classes? 

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do this?  We will certainly give the undertaking.  I will go back and look at the interrogatory, and it may be that we can update it by identifying the rate classes.

And if that is not sufficiently responsive, we will provide a separate answer.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just to follow up, what I am really looking for is options.

So assuming that we do have an account like that, what are the various options?  And to the extent that you can justify those options, that would be helpful, as well. 

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.2:  TO EXPLAIN POSSIBLE DOLLAR ALLOCATION OPTIONS IN A DEFERRAL ACCOUNT.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I believe Mr. Gruenbauer, you are next? 

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gruenbauer:

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Good morning, members of the Union witness panel.  I think we all know each other, and you know I am here representing the City of Kitchener, natural gas utility of the City of Kitchener, which is both a T3 and M12 customer of Union Gas.

I was wondering if we could have our compendium marked as an exhibit, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is K11.4, and I believe the panel already has copies. 
EXHIBIT NO. K11.4:  CITY OF KITCHENER COMPENDIUM

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you very much. 

Madam Chair and Mr. Smith, in my cross-examination of the Union witness today, I will also be referring to Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8 of 11, as updated by Union on July 13th, and I neglected to include that particular exhibit in my compendium.  But perhaps that omission was just as well because it is a pretty busy schedule with some small font, which may be a challenge for some of the folks in the room to read from a hard copy, including me.  But it is a pertinent piece of evidence for our purposes, as it sets out, on one page, some helpful information for rates T1 and T3 under Union's ratemaking proposals for 2013. 

So if I could start, panel, if you could please turn to page 2 of the compendium, K11.4, what I have done here from pages 2 through 16 is I have included the material that deals with your proposal for Rate T1 redesign, as set out in subsection (e) of your updated written evidence that was filed under Exhibit H1, tab 1.  And I believe I've included it, that subsection, in its entirety. 

My first question was:  Which witness on the panel was primarily responsible for preparing this subsection of Exhibit H1, tab 12? 

MR. TETREAULT:  It would be both Mr. Pankrac and myself, Mr. Gruenbauer, that would have prepared that. 

MR. GRUENBAUER:  That's fine, Mr. Tetreault.  I thought that was the case.  I just wanted to make sure.

If you could please turn to page 4 of the compendium, at table 13, and I see that the proposed monthly customer charge for Rate T1 with no redesign is $6,600.83, which works out to $79,210 per year; is that correct? 

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Now, is the current approved monthly customer charge for Rate T1 about $1,795?

I see that current monthly customer charge at the updated Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8, at line 14 column C.  That's the busy schedule.

MR. TETREAULT:  I'll turn it up, Mr. Gruenbauer, but that sounds correct. 

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Now, is it also correct that the current monthly customer charge of about $1,795 significantly under-recovers the customer-related costs for rate T1 as allocated from the cost study? 

If we stay with Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8, I think we can see that under "recovery of allocated costs" in column D at line 14, there is a revenue deficiency of $4.671 million; have I got that right? 

MR. TETREAULT:  The 2013 allocated costs to T1 in that line, yes, under -- the current monthly customer charge under-recovers the 2013 costs.  That's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So to derive a revenue-to-cost ratio, you would take that -- the current revenue of 1.671 million that is shown at line 14 of column B -- divide that by the revenue requirement of $6.416 million shown in column E, and then I think that would result in a current revenue-to-cost ratio, just for that component of 0.27, if I did my math correctly.

Would you accept that, subject to check? 

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I can accept that. 

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I am not quite sure that I understand what is meant by the phrase "no redesign" that appears in the title at table 13 on page 4 of my compendium and in some of the following tables in the written evidence at Exhibit H1, tab 1.

Can you please tell help me with what that phrase, "no redesign," means?

MR. TETREAULT:  "No redesign" refers to proposed T1 -- proposed T1 rates prior to Union's proposal to split T1 into a small T1 and a large T2 rate class.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  So status quo, essentially? 

MR. TETREAULT:  Status quo, in terms of the rate class split.

What these rates represent are what proposed Rate T1 rates would be, absent our rate redesign proposal to split the rate class.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  So the current monthly customer charge for Rate T1 that we talked about a couple of minutes ago is about $1,795, and the proposed monthly charge with no redesign is about $6,600.

That's a pretty big increase, 267 percent, if I've done my math correctly again.

Would you accept that, subject to check? 

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So from an existing T1 customer's perspective, one would think that a proposed 267 percent increase to the customer charge would be considered a rate shock even if it wasn't technically a rate redesign.

Would you agree with that likely reaction to the proposed customer charge with no redesign by Rate T1 customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  I wouldn't want to speculate, Mr. Gruenbauer, as to how T1 customers would view that particular change in a charge.

And I certainly wouldn't accept that it's a -- that it represents rate shock.  I think "rate shock" itself is a fairly subjective term, that different parties will have different views on.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Save that for argument.  Thank you for that. 

And Mr. Tetreault, do you recall an exchange that we had at the June 1st, 2012 technical conference in this proceeding, around comparing the load characteristics of Rate T3 versus the proposed Rate T2?

I have included that transcript exchange at page 24 of my compendium.  That starts at line 19 and goes through to lines 23 and 24.

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.


MR. GRUENBAUER: Okay.  Basically at that time you didn't know the comparable load characteristics of T3 versus T2?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  I didn't have the information readily available.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Perhaps we can get on the hearing record today what T3 load characteristics in fact are, and then compare them to the characteristics for the proposed rate T2 class for rate-making purposes.


This is important because, as I understand, one of the themes of your evidence on the proposed rate T1 and 2 rate redesign, the size of the customer is an important consideration.  I would just like to explore that size theme a little bit.


So, again, if you can -- if you didn't already have your finger on it, if you could please turn up updated Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8?  That is the busy exhibit.


MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  First of all, everyone in the room is likely already aware of this fact, but can you please confirm that Kitchener is the only customer served under rate T3 at this time?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And in your forecast for 2013 rates, we're it?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay, thank you.  So if you look at lines 25 and 26 of Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8, so down in the lower left corner, page 8 under column (a), column (a) is the forecast 2013 usage.


I believe those two lines, 25 and 26, represent Kitchener's basic load characteristics under rate T3 for rate-making purposes.  Would you agree with that?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I would.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So if you divide that 28,200 103 m3 per day per month that is shown at line 25, column (a) by 12 months, then you get 2,350 103 m3 per day.  And that number is our firm daily contract demand; is that correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  And I can verify that's correct.  Thank you.


And the number that is right below that of 272,712 103 m3, that is the annual forecast usage of Kitchener under rate T3 for rate-making purposes; is that also correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay, good.  So then our rate T3 daily demand is higher than the proposed minimum firm daily demand of 140,870 cubic metres that you have proposed for rate T2, is that --


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Is that fair?  Okay.  And Kitchener's annual forecast usage of roughly 272,000,000 cubic metres under rate T3 is much higher than the average firm annual consumption of about 78 million cubic metres for current rate T1 customers as shown at the top of page 8 of my compendium. That's going back to your written testimony.


Would you agree with that?  That appears at line 2, page 8 of the compendium.


MR. TETREAULT:  I see it, and I agree.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  As you also note at that spot in your written evidence, your largest rate T1 customer consumes 836,000,000 cubic metres annually on a firm basis, and that is roughly three times the annual forecast firm consumption of Kitchener under rate T3.  I think I've got that comparative math correct.  Would you agree with that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I will take your math subject to check, yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay, thank you.  That's a big customer.  So based on these numbers in Union's evidence at Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8, Mr. Tetreault, is it now fair for you to say that the load characteristics under T3 are quite similar to the larger, perhaps even the largest, of your exiting rate T1 customers that are proposed to migrate to the rate T2 class, subject to the approval of the Board?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, Mr. Gruenbauer, I don't -- I can't agree with that, and perhaps I am at a loss because I don't have the ability to do the math in real time, but I believe the load factor of the City of Kitchener is substantially lower than the average load factor of rate T1.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So the firm daily demand and annual demand may be comparable, but the load profile, the usage of gas through the year, is likely different from the largest of the rate T1 customers now and proposed to move to Rate 2.  Would that be fair?


MR. TETREAULT:  Likely different from the -- from the total rate T1 rate class.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Do you happen to know what the average annual load factor is for the proposed T2 class, or perhaps the larger ones?  And I apologize if it is somewhere in the evidence and I just didn't see it.


MR. TETREAULT:  I don't believe, Mr. Gruenbauer, that is laid out directly in evidence.


On page 10 of your compendium, there is -- table 15 on that page does show the load profile associated with proposed rate T1 and rate T2, but the load factor doesn't directly appear there.


So I would need to -- I would need to do the math, basically.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Could you undertake to do that?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J11.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J11.3:  TO PROVIDE THE AVERAGE ANNUAL LOAD FACTOR FOR THE PROPOSED T2 CLASS OR LARGER.

MS. HARE:  But let me just interject, because I want to make sure I'm following this.


You were asked by Mr. Gruenbauer in the technical conference a question about the load characteristics for Kitchener of T3 compared to T2.  You couldn't answer that, and now there's some comparison between T1 load characteristics and T3, but can you explain to me the difference in load characteristics of Kitchener in T3 and T2, which you were asked before?  So I assume that you've looked it up and know the answer now.


MR. TETREAULT:  As Mr. Gruenbauer said, in terms of daily contract demand and annual volume, I would suggest on those characteristics Kitchener is similar to customers in proposed rate T2.


And my discussion earlier was around load factor as a specific characteristic, that the load factors could be quite different and are quite different for an LDC relative to a rate T2 customer, who would generally be an industrial customer.


MS. HARE:  And that's why you felt that they had to be in a separate class?


MR. TETREAULT:  They are currently in separate classes.  Union has the rate T3 class, which is specific to wholesale customers, relative to rate T1 and rate T2, which are for end use distribution customers of Union Gas.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Sorry for the interruption.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Not at all, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much and I thank you for taking that undertaking.


I will just switch gears a little bit here.


Going back to my compendium at page 5, at lines 13 and 14, do you see where your evidence states:

"The proportion of customers in a rate class served off transmission main has an impact on the overall level of distribution demand-related costs allocated to a rate class."


Do you see that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  Do you know if Kitchener is served off transmission main?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, they are.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, they are.  Okay.


For purposes of the cost allocation study, is transmission main only deemed to be the Dawn-Parkway system, or are there transmission mains branching off the Dawn-Parkway system, for example, such as the Owen Sound lateral?  Is that why we would be on transmission main?


MR. TETREAULT:  There would be other transmission main than just the Dawn-Trafalgar system.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Great.  Thank you.  Turning to page 6 of the compendium, at lines 9 through 11, do you see where your evidence states that:

"...generally, the service replacement costs for large Rate Tl customers are greater than the service replacement costs for small Rate Tl customers due to the services being of greater size and length."


My question is:  Would that statement also apply to Kitchener as a rate T3 customer, which is more comparable in size to a large T1 customer than a small T1 customer?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, it wouldn't, Mr. Gruenbauer.  This paragraph in evidence is specifically speaking to distribution main and distribution services.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  That clears up my confusion.  Thank you.


Turning to page 9 of the compendium, and I am looking at figure 1.  And on my review of it, there seems to be a few rate T1 customers missing from the scatter diagram.


And I don't want Mr. Smith to laugh at me, but I actually counted the dots, and then counted them again just to make sure.  And I was expecting to count --


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's quite a reputation.

[Laughter]


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I was expecting to count 39 dots below the threshold of 140,870 cubic metres from the Y-axis of that scatter diagram, and something less than 20 dots above that threshold.

And based on my visual count of the scatter plotting on the diagram, there appears to be one customer missing below the threshold, which, in -- nothing that I am going after really turns on that, but there are three customers missing above that threshold, which I take from the footnote to figure 1 would exclude three very large customers with a firm daily demand in excess of, I think, 1,500,000 cubic metres per day, based on the scale.

Have I got that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  That's fair, Mr. Gruenbauer.  We would have needed a much bigger figure to capture the largest T2 customers.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Got it.  Thank you.  And again, just for comparison purposes of load characteristics -- and I will qualify that by saying firm daily demand -- if Kitchener was currently a T1 customer instead of a T3 customer, its firm daily demand would have excluded Kitchener from appearing on this scatter diagram just like those three very large existing T1 customers, I take it?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning to page 10 of the compendium, at table 15 it shows the current and proposed composition of customers under the Rate T1/T2 redesign, and there are 59 customers currently served under Rate T1.

And subject to Board approval of your proposal, 39 customers would migrate to the redesigned Rate T1 and 20 customers would migrate to the Rate T2.

I think I've got that right; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, you do.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thanks.  Now, if you could please turn up page 17 of the compendium, and this is the updated Exhibit H3, tab 11, schedule 1, which shows Rate T1 with current rate redesign and proposed Rate T1 and Rate 2 redesign.

What I am looking at is, at line 1, under column A, the number 972 appears as the annual billing units for the monthly charge for the proposed 2013 current rate T1 firm transportation.

I was just wondering how that number of 972 is derived, or where that comes from.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Gruenbauer, that number would be derived by taking the number of customers in Rate T1, times 12 months, to get an annual billing unit.

And then that number would also factor in the fact that certain Rate T1 customers have more than one delivery point where we distribute gas to, and the monthly customer charge for Rate T1 applies at the redelivery point level.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  I thought that might be the case, because if you divide 972 by 12, you get 81 redelivery points, which exceeds 59 customers, but there is a number of customers that would have multiple redelivery points.

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.  That's the difference.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Do those multiple redelivery points arise as a result of the meters not being on contiguous property?  Something like that?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  That's fair.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So continuing looking at the same page 17 of the compendium, at line 15 under column E, the proposed revenue-to-cost ratio for the proposed Rate T2 monthly customer charge is shown.

That ratio is 0.497, which I interpret to mean that the proposed $6,000 monthly customer charge under-recovers the allocated costs by about 50 percent; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  In fact, you make that point in your written evidence, which is shown at lines 7 to 8 on page 14 of my compendium.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we do.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And at that spot, bottom of page 14 of my compendium, you go on further in your written evidence to describe your rationale for setting the proposed customer charge at that level, and it is:

"To ensure a smooth rate continuum between Rate T1 and Rate T2 at the daily contracted demand break point of 140,870 cubic metres."

That is a mouthful.  Have I got that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, you do.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thanks.  And my follow-up question is:  Would customer resistance to imposing a higher customer charge that would recover 100 percent of the allocated customer-related costs have anything to do with how you landed on your proposed redesign for that charge for Rate T2?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  I wouldn't agree with that, Mr. Gruenbauer.  We were concerned -- there are small Rate T2 customers that would have multiple redelivery points, similar to the discussion we had a minute ago about the broader T1 class.

And one of our concerns was the fact that for a small Rate T2, they would see a substantial bill impact if they had multiple redelivery points, if the monthly customer charge was set at a rev-to-cost ratio of 1.0.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Isn't that virtually the same thing as a rate-mitigation measure to limit or constrain an otherwise unacceptable rate increase, is intuitively or otherwise responding to resistance to the impact of the charge?

Maybe we might be agreeing, but just in different terms.

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I would necessarily consider there to be resistance from customers.

And I say that from the standpoint that the balance of the customer-related costs that are not recovered in the monthly customer charge are recovered in the first block of the demand charge, which is the demand block that is common to all proposed Rate T2 customers.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  I understand that and actually that is where I was headed next.

We find that on the next page of the compendium, from lines 2 to 4 on page 15, that the balance -– just what you said.  The balance of the customer-related costs not recovered in the Rate T2 monthly customer charge are recovered in the first block demand charge, which is common to all Rate T2 customers.

So in combination between the demand charge and the customer charge, say, the costs are recovered?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Is that fair?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Now, is that different ratemaking treatment from the customer -- for the customer charge among rates T1, T2 and T3 fair and reasonable, in your view?  And by that, I mean it appears for Rates T1 and T3, the proposed customer charge is intended to recover 100 percent of the costs.  There's a 1.0 revenue-to-cost ratio for the customer charge for rates T1 -- redesigned Rate T1 and the Rate T3, but there is a 50 percent recovery of costs via the fixed customer charge for Rate T2.

So there's different treatment with respect to just the customer charge.  My question to you is:  Do you view that as being fair and equitable treatment?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we do.  We are comfortable with our rate design proposals for all three rate classes that you mentioned.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Save that for argument.  Okay.  Moving on, is it --


MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Gruenbauer, just before you move on, I need to clarify this for my own edification.

So you are arguing that small customers with more than one delivery point, it is appropriate for revenue-to-cost ratio to be 50 percent; is that correct?  Is that the primary -- is the number of interconnections the primary driver of the lower revenue-to-cost ratio?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  I would say that it is.  We wanted to manage the bill impacts for small Rate T2 customers, particularly those with multiple redelivery points.  Some of those customers would have several redelivery points, and in our view the appropriate way to balance that consideration with recovery of the fixed cost and fixed charges was to recover the balance of the customer-related costs in the first block of demand for proposed Rate T2.

MS. TAYLOR:  And because it is in the first block of demand, unless they go to zero in terms of consumption, it's guaranteed, in effect, that they will be paying at that first block rate; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  That's a block that is common to all proposed rate T2 customers.

MS. TAYLOR:  And just the fixed costs, because of the multiple delivery points, you are actually, then, reallocating costs for customers who you actually have more assets serving because of the multiple delivery points; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. TETREAULT:  And recovering the balance of them, as I mentioned, in the first block of demand from the entire class.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Member Taylor.

Shifting gears again just a little bit, panel, is it fair to characterize customer-related costs as having more to do with connecting a customer to the utility system and maintaining that connection than how that customer actually takes service and imposes demands on the utility system?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  So would it be fair to describe the fixed monthly customer charge in your various rate schedules as a system access fee, if I can borrow a term from the telecom sector, in order to serve a particular class of customers that exhibit similar characteristics?

MR. TETREAULT:  I prefer, Mr. Gruenbauer, to use your earlier description, actually, which is customer-related costs are capital- and operating-related costs with attaching a customer to the system.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  Generally speaking, in the Union Gas cost study, what are customer-related costs?  And I guess this gets a little bit to the point Member Taylor was making with respect to the assets that wind up being allocated as customer-related costs.

MS. STEVENSON:  I'm sorry, did you want a description of the types of costs that are customer-related?

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, please, the big ones.

MS. STEVENSON:  Typically, customer-related costs are relating to the types of costs that vary with the numbers of customers, and that is the definition that we have provided.  They would include things such as smaller mains services to connect the customer that we have already described.

Other O&M-type costs would include your billing-type costs.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Would measuring and regulating stations be a customer-related cost?

MS. STEVENSON:  So meters and regulators would be included in distribution customer-related costs, but certain measuring -- regulating equipment that is more demand related would not be a customer-related cost but would be a distribution-related cost.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

What drives the dramatically different level of customer-related costs to serve different customers?

MS. STEVENSON:  It really depends on what cost item you're talking about.  So certain costs would be more expensive -- or they would have more costs if they're a smaller customer.  Certain things would be allocated on general number of customers, whereas other costs that have more -- that are a larger customer would incur other customer-related costs and different portions.  So it really depends on the line item you are speaking about.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Is the level of accuracy in the cost study sufficient enough, in your view, with respect to allocating -- I know there's some direct assignment of costs where you can specifically identify a particular cost as having been undertaken to serve a particular customer or class of customer?  You directly assign that in the cost study.  Have I understood that correctly?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.  That's the case in some instances.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes.  I guess is there a sufficient level of precision in that cost study and in that direct assignment process that you feel comfortable that there isn't some skewing of customer-related costs between the sort of pool of undirectly assigned costs and costs that you can tag and identify to particular customers?  I hope that is not too clumsily worded.

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Gruenbauer, we are comfortable with the level of accuracy in the cost allocation study as it relates to specifically the issue that you are referencing.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay, that's fine.

If we can turn to the last page, 28, of my compendium, this is an undertaking response, Exhibit JT2.19, by Union to a follow-up question which I put to this witness panel at the June 1, 2012 technical conference, and that is shown at page 21 of my compendium, just for completeness.

I want to thank my friends at Union for providing this undertaking response.  Now, let me clumsily try and skewer you with it.

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  Just here to help.  Here to help.

[Laughter]

MR. GRUENBAUER:  There are a couple of striking numbers in this response.  For example, if you look at column (f) at line 8, there is an increase in customer-related costs, of the type we just talked about a few minutes ago, for T1/T2 customers of $6.614 million, or about 354 percent 2013 versus 2007, if my math is right.  Do you see that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do, yes.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Does that quantum of an increase seem reasonable or even possible to you, in light of the discussion we just had about accuracy in the cost study?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it does, Mr. Gruenbauer.  One of the drivers here is something that we have described in evidence.  Actually, it is in your compendium, and that was the discussion we had on mains and services.

The allocator for mains and services is a service replacement cost allocator.  And based on preparing the 2013 cost study, that allocator would have been refreshed, and the result of that update was an increase in the portion of those costs that would have been allocated to T1, largely the result of new T1 customers that have attached to the system since the last cost study was prepared in 2007.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  And would those costs -- is that what we see over in column (i), lines 1 and 2, because that's -- if you add those two numbers up, that is about $4.9 million, I think -- or, no.  I should be actually locking at column (f), so the 2.487 million and 1.470 million, which is about - do your math.

Almost 4 million of the 6.6 million is with respect to an increase in customer-related costs for T1/T2 from return in taxes and depreciation expense, which would be fixed-asset driven?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay, all right.  Now, the comparable increase from 2007 to 2013 in customer-related costs for our Kitchener service under rate T3 is $54,000, and that is shown further below in column (f) at the lower line number 8.  And in percentage terms, that works out to 26 percent.  I just took 54,000 over the 206,000 that appears in 2007.  Have I done my math right there?

MR. TETREAULT:  You have.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Continuing with this undertaking response, is it fair to pencil in the following number of customers on this response?  Can I put the number 39 for T1 below the 1.421 million that appears in column (b) at line 8, and can I put the number 20 beside that under the 7.060 million, and then that would sum up to 59 over in column E, below the 8.482?

Then I would put the number "1" under the lower line, 8, under T3, column D, just to account, like, to put customer numbers against the costs.

Am I doing okay?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, you are.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  This is my final line of questions for this panel.

Mr. Tetreault, you will recall we had a bit of an exchange about the relative levels of the monthly customer charge for Rates T1, T2 and T3 at the June 1 technical conference.  And that exchange is shown starting at line 21 of page 23 of my compendium and continuing on to line 10 at the following page.  Do you recall that exchange?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  And here's my -- as they teach us at cross-examination school -- this is my zinger.

What is it about Kitchener as a T3 customer that drives it to have the highest allocation of customer-related costs and associated monthly customer charge out of all of your rate classes?

Are we just a really expensive pain in the neck for Union Gas to connect to its system and to keep as a customer, despite the fact that we have nowhere else to go for comparable service?

[Laughter]


MR. TETREAULT:  I certainly wouldn't describe Kitchener as a pain in the neck, but the first part of your statement is correct.  I think it is exactly what you said, Mr. Gruenbauer.

It is based on the customer-related costs to attach and maintain that attachment with Kitchener.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Wolnik, are you ready to proceed?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, I am ready.  Thank you.

I expect to take about an hour, maybe.  If you want to take a break prior to me finishing, just let me know.

MS. HARE:  I think we are looking to take the lunch break at 12:30, from 12:30 to 1:30.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Great.

MS. HARE:  So if you could find a suitable time to break around then, that would be helpful.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  Nice to see you again.  I've got probably about six or seven different question areas.  So, Mr. Tetreault, you are the manager responsible at Union for rate design and cost allocation; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  And your application contains some proposed changes in cost allocation.  So can you tell us sort of generally how you decide to change some allocations and not others?

Like, I appreciate this is a rebasing application and you probably, in order to prepare for this, started to think about the things you may need to do.  So how did you decide to make some changes to some allocations and not others?

MR. TETREAULT:  In preparing the cost study, or in preparing to prepare the cost study, we do a comprehensive review of all of the inputs into that study.

And in doing so, you always look for opportunities, where you can, to better reflect cost causation in your allocators.

And where it may be appropriate, we would also look at whether there are opportunities to harmonize any allocation methodologies between Union north and Union south.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand the cost causation principle.  Can you just explain a bit more about your harmonization sort of strategy or objective?

MS. STEVENSON:  I would say whenever possible -- because we have some different allocators in the cost study for the north and the south -- we're looking for opportunities to harmonize those when it makes sense.

So if there is -- I know there is a couple we did talk about that had some harmonization to them, so it is one of the things we would look at if we were looking at a new proposal, to see if it makes sense to use the same approach in the north and the south.

MR. WOLNIK:  If that harmonization violated the cost causation principle, would that be a reason that you would not do it?  You would reject that harmonization option?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.  If it didn't make sense from a cost perspective, a cost causation perspective, I don't think we would pursue that.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And in order to evaluate whether current cost allocations or proposed cost allocations are appropriate, I presume, Mr. Tetreault, you would have to have a pretty good working knowledge of the operation of the company; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think that is fair, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  I filed a compendium on behalf of APPrO.  I wonder if it should be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit K1.5 -- pardon me, 11.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K11.5:  APPRO COMPENDIUM.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  And the panel should have copies of that already.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can we turn to turn to page 3 of 27 of that compendium?  This deals with F24-T, so I would like to kind of talk about F24-T for a minute.

F24-T is an add-on service to M12 that was introduced a few years ago as a result of NGEIR; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And the purpose of that was to provide 13 nomination windows to customers who wanted to -- access to their M12 capacity at more than the standard for NAESB windows; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  So there is nine additional windows over the NAESB windows?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Mr. Tetreault, I understand you have firsthand knowledge of this area because you used to work in that gas management department; is that right?  Albeit a few years ago, but --


MR. TETREAULT:  It's been just over four years, so I would describe my knowledge as somewhat dated.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I don't think it has changed too much since then, but...

Now, Union filed an updated exhibit to H3, tab 8, schedule 1, which I think is page 3 here that you will see.

It shows the costs of $647,000, and that was a number that came out of the settlement agreement; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can you tell me if this $647,000 is within the overall global O&M budget for Union?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it would be.

MR. WOLNIK:  So when you do the overall rate design, do you actually physically exclude this $647,000?  Do you earmark it specifically?  I just want to make sure that you are not sort of collecting it twice, once within the overall O&M budget and secondly collecting it for F24-T.

MR. TETREAULT:  No, we are not collecting this cost twice.  We are directly assigning this cost to the M12 rate class.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if we could turn to page 4 of the compendium, so this is an excerpt from your website, and near the bottom there under the contract heading, it appears that one of the conditions of offering F24-T is that it requires execution of either an M12 transportation contract or a C1 contract; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's how I read it.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  So I think that is relatively new since NGEIR, I think.  When NGEIR was originally -- or when F24-T was introduced in NGEIR, I think it just applied to M12.  So it is some time since that point in time that it's now being applied to C1 contracts.

Do you know if there were any C1 contracts entered into that had an F24-T add-on to it in the last -- well, since you introduced it?

MR. TETREAULT:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And if we go back to page 3, when we look at the demand of 356,500 gJs per day, did any of -- was any of that C1-related?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't believe so.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And do you know if you have any C1 contracts executed now that -- where this might apply?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  Now, on page 6 of the compendium, which is J.G-9-13-1, under (b), we had asked you to confirm the number of customers and their respective volumes for F24-T.

In the response on page 7, you show six customers.  And if my math is right, that tallies to 442,154 gJs a day of demand.  Would you take that, subject to check?  Or unless you have your own addition, I am happy to take yours.

MR. TETREAULT:  I will take your number, subject to check.

MR. WOLNIK:  So I am just flipping back now to page 3 of the compendium, the updated Exhibit H3, tab 8, schedule 1.  You didn't incorporate that number when you refiled this on July 13th.  Can you explain why?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.  I can tell you that the demands on page 3 of your compendium are the forecasted demands for 2013.  I can't say, though -- I don't know if that is necessarily true in the IR response on page 7 of your compendium.  I'm not sure if it is an apples-to-apples comparison, myself.

MR. WOLNIK:  Maybe there are a couple of follow-up issues here.  Maybe you could tell us what the 442,154 gJs does represent.  And, secondly, to the extent that they reflect existing FT contracts that I guess -- I would ask whether they should be included in the billing determinants on page 3 of H3, tab 8, schedule 1.  If so, can I ask you to undertake to also update the schedule?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.4:  TO IDENTIFY WHAT 442,154 GJS REPRESENTS ON PAGE 7 OF APPRO COMPENDIUM, AND, IF IT REFLECTS BILLING DETERMINANTS WHICH ARE NOT REFLECTED, TO UPDATE SCHEDULE 1 ON PAGE 3 OF H3, TAB 8. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Now, we talk about F24T with 13 nomination windows.  I would now like to talk about another service where Union also provides more flexibility over and above the standard NAESB windows, And that is the STS service.  Are you familiar with that, Mr. Tetreault?

MR. TETREAULT:  I am.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  I think you were in the room the other day when this came up with -- when TransCanada was on the stand, where we talked about that being a service that Union operates in conjunction with TransCanada, flexibility on TransCanada's system; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's my understanding.

MR. WOLNIK:  Maybe just given your background, albeit four years ago when you were in that department, could you just at a high level just talk about how Union accommodates that service and exactly what happens, again at a high level?  I am not looking for detail, but...

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik, that it is fair of me to take that on.

As I said, it's been a number of years since I have worked in the area, and I wouldn't feel comfortable commenting on how that group may help facilitate STS.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, is it fair to say, if we were to choose a customer -- I think GMI was one of names that came up yesterday in TransCanada's cross-examination.  Would it be fair to say that STS is used to help balance the volumes coming in on TransCanada and the overall aggregate demand in the LDCs, is that ---

MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair.  That is the intent of STS.

MR. WOLNIK:  So when the demand is down and volumes are still coming in, STS is redirected -- or the STS volumes coming to long-haul on TransCanada are basically redirected to storage; is that fair?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct, that's fair.

MR. WOLNIK:  And when demands are greater than the long-haul volumes coming in, gas comes out of storage and goes towards the LDC area?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  So those volumes, those STS volumes, touch Union's system?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, they do.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So that is really all I was trying to get at.  Union accommodates.  Union has worked over the years with the LDCs and TransCanada to help accommodate STS service?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And that STS service, you will probably remember either from TransCanada discussion or your prior experience, has eight nomination windows?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  There's four in addition to the NAESB windows. 


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  And on page 9 of my compendium -- I looked at the TransCanada website, and these were the STS contracts that I found on their website.

And it aggregates to 745,000 gJs a day of contract demand, and there are several customers, from St. Lawrence Gas, Enbridge, GMI, 1425445 Ontario, which I think is Kingston, Vermont and Union.

I appreciate this is not a Union document, so I am not asking you to confirm those numbers or confirm this, but it might be helpful if you could confirm, by way of undertaking, if these volumes are correct and these customers are correct.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, which volumes and which customers?

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, at the bottom right-hand page -- or part of the page on page 9, I illustrate or show one, two, three, four, five, six customers at an aggregate volume of 745,193 gJs a day of demand.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Wolnik, I am pausing over the request, because I don't have a problem confirming Union's number, but I'm not sure I am in a position to confirm the contracts held by the other LDCs who are identified on TCPL's document.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think that is fair that you can't confirm TCPL's numbers, but, presumably, to the extent that Union facilitates these volumes coming from storage on their M12 transportation to go back to the various LDCs, presumably those M12 contracts reflect in some way these volumes.

MR. SMITH:  I guess I have a couple of concerns about it.  I mean, the first is, I mean, maybe the relevance of this to the cost allocation and rate design panel is there, but it is certainly not apparent to me.  I wonder why the question wasn't asked of gas supply or, indeed, TCPL.

I guess the other question I would ask, and frankly I don't know the answer to this, but LDCs, as TCPL told us the other day, hold their own STS contracts to move volumes which may or may not be in and out of Dawn storage.

So I am not sure that the correlation is perfect.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, if we can kind of look at page 9 on the compendium for a second, you will see at the top of the page the fifth column shows receipt point.

MR. SMITH:  Mm-hm.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in all cases, except two Union contracts, the receipt point is Union Parkway belt.  It is my understanding that Union Parkway belt is a direct interconnect with Union Gas downstream of the Parkway compressor station.

So it appears to me that virtually all of those volumes that have a Union Parkway belt receipt point would also have an M12 contract.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Wolnik, for purposes of whatever argument you are going to make, can you not just accept these numbers?

MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, I can accept them.  I just didn't know whether Union could accept them.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I am not prepared -- I mean, absent a preview of what the argument is and how the document is going to be used, I'm not sure that I can prudently agree to that.

I think my friend has to prove the document and prove the numbers if he wants to rely on them.

I guess what I'm saying is, if he wanted to do that, we had TCPL here, and, indeed, it was obvious my friend was in the room for TCPL's cross-examination.  I am surprised that he wouldn't have put these numbers to TCPL.

MS. HARE:  Give us a moment, please.

[Board Panel members confer]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Wolnik, your proposition is that the primary receipt evidences, through an M12 contract, the volumes that are represented in the lower right-hand corner of the document.  That is your proposition?

MR. WOLNIK:  Basically, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

MS. HARE:  We are going to take our lunch break now and we will consider the undertaking, but let me just ask Union:  Is it a lot of work to confirm this?

MR. SMITH:  That's what I really don't know.  I am happy to make an inquiry and see if we can get an answer within a reasonable period of time and, if we can, I am happy to provide it.

I am just not in a position, particularly without the gas supply panel here, to actually have an informed discussion.

MS. HARE:  Why don't you over the break see if you can find an answer to that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Happy to do so.

MS. HARE:  Let's come back at 1:20.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:13 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Two preliminary matters, Madam Chair.


The first is we did work over the lunch hour to try to get an answer to Mr. Wolnik's question, without success thus far.  We will continue to see if we can figure it out.


I do know that the numbers are pulled correctly from the TCPL website, but we are not in a position to independently confirm them, at least not yet, from what we have been able to figure out.


And I believe Mr. Tetreault has an answer to the load factor undertaking, in relation to the T3 load factor.  It might make some sense to just put that on the record.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  This is part of Mr. Gruenbauer's request from this morning.


For Rate T3, the firm load factor in 2013 is approximately 32 percent.  For the combined Rate T1 -- that is Rate T1 prior to our proposal to split Rate T1 and T2 -- the firm load factor is approximately 65 percent.


All of the data supporting those load factors can be found in Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8.  That was the page Mr. Gruenbauer referenced in his compendium.


For the proposed redesign of T1 into T1/T2, new T1 has a firm load factor of approximately 63 percent, and proposed T2 has a firm load factor of approximately 66 percent.


And the data supporting those calculations can be found in Exhibit H3, tab 11, schedule 1.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just a couple of points, Madam Chair.  I have spoken to Mr. Smith about this, but we did leave open the question of submissions concerning the production of an unredacted -- production in confidence of an unredacted copy of J.0-whatever it was, J.0-4-15-1, until the words were available.


MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  The words are available, but rather than take time now, my suggestion to Mr. Smith was that we do it Monday, and that he have an unredacted copy of the material here in case you rule that it should be produced in confidence.  He's okay with that.


The second point, I just wanted to perhaps get some direction from you as to the issue of clean-up.  There was some discussion of that the other day, and I took that to mean, if there were some follow-ups with undertakings, they should be dealt with by way of clean-up.


I have some undertakings with respect to days 6 and 7 are yet to come, and I have a couple of questions on ones that have been provided.


My plan was to submit these to the company in writing over the weekend so that they could deal with them quickly on Monday, but I just wanted to get from you an understanding of -- will there be some sort of clean-up on Monday, or should we be doing it by way of written questions?


MS. HARE:  The Board is -- yes, the Board is not going to order a clean-up panel.  I had suggested that.  It is totally at the discretion of the company, whether they wanted to do that.  And I am not sure if Mr. Smith can let us know of his plans in that respect.


It would be good to know today, because, if not, then I think the way you're suggesting, to put it in writing, would be the best way to handle it.


Mr. Smith, we don't really need an answer today -- we will need an answer before we break today, but if you want to confer with your client and let us know after the break.


MR. SMITH:  I will speak with the client at the break.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Wolnik, then we are ready to hear the rest of your cross-examination.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


Panel, I wonder if you could turn up page 10 of the compendium.  This was a table from the Union Gas website that shows 13 -- shows all of the nomination windows.


Does that in any way look familiar to you, Mr. Tetreault?


MR. TETREAULT:  I haven't seen this particular slide before, but the nom windows certainly look familiar.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And what I understand this shows is the various nomination windows, the shaded windows, the timely evening -- the IDI 1, or intra-day 1, and IDI 2, those are the NEASB windows; is that fair?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  The rest of those windows that have F24-T beside them, those are the additional windows that are offered to F24-T10 customers, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  If we look at four of those, the one at 11 o'clock, the one at 1700, 1900 and 0100 and 0500, those have an asterisk beside them, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, they do.


MR. WOLNIK:  It says:

"These windows align with TransCanada STS windows."


Is that right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So I appreciate that Mr. Smith has agreed, I think, to provide, to go back into Union's records to confirm some of the volume associated with this, but we didn't give it an undertaking number.


Should we do that at this time?


MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm not sure I agreed to confirm the numbers.  What I said I would do is look and see if it's possible; and if it's possible, we will provide it, and if it's not, we will let you know.


And I am happy to provide that by way of undertaking.


MR. WOLNIK:  Maybe to simplify it -- I would appreciate these are probably done under the M12 contracts, and I think you are able to confirm the volume with -- from the TransCanada website, the 745 or so thousand gJs.


Maybe just confirmation that those are the volumes that Union would match under its M12 contracts, might be all that is necessary.


MR. SMITH:  What we can do is we can confirm our M12 contracts.  We can't confirm beyond that.


MS. HARE:  I think that's fine.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J11.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J11.5:  TO CONFIRM UNION'S M12 CONTRACTS.

MR. WOLNIK:  Now, Mr. Tetreault, does Union charge these M12 customers, assuming they have STS service, an incremental fee for the way it does for F24-T customers?


MR. TETREAULT:  No.


MR. WOLNIK:  So are there any incremental costs associated with providing or matching these STS windows for these M12 customers?


MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.


MR. WOLNIK:  But you have filed information on incremental costs associated with F24-T, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And there's four STS windows and --incremental windows, and nine incremental F24-T windows; is that right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Would it be fair to assume that there are costs associated with providing STS windows, either both in terms of labour and time to receive those nominations, additional wear and tear on the equipment, as well as time required for field personnel to go out and reconfigure the compressors?


MR. TETREAULT:  Again, Mr. Wolnik, I don't know.


What we do know are the incremental costs associated with some of the operational departments, providing F24 service.  I mean, we receive that information directly from those functional areas.


So I don't think I can speak in any more detail than that, as to the costs.


MR. WOLNIK:  If there are costs, would it be fair to assume that those costs are embedded in the M12 delivery rate?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, I don't think that would necessarily be fair.


They would be -- they would be O&M costs in general, and they would be -- depending on the type of O&M costs they are, they would be allocated from there to potentially all rate classes.


MR. WOLNIK:  So they wouldn't be –- so you're saying to accommodate these additional M12 nomination windows, they wouldn't be included in the M12 delivery rate?  Is that what I understood you to say?


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm saying I don't know the incremental costs, if anything, related to STS.  I can't comment beyond saying they would be part of our overall O&M budget.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think I asked, if they were -- if there were incremental costs, if there were costs to receive and process these nominations, I think I simply asked:  Would those costs be recovered in the M12 rate?

I thought you were saying it could be all rate classes.

MR. TETREAULT:  My struggle, Mr. Wolnik, is I don't know if there are any -- if there are any incremental costs.  What I do know are the incremental costs associated with F24 that have been directly assigned to the M12 class.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you would agree that in order to receive an STS nomination, one of these four windows, that would take additional effort over and above the four standard NAESB windows?

MR. TETREAULT:  It's possible, but I can't speak to how the functional group may be providing or facilitating that service.

MR. WOLNIK:  All I'm asking is, if there are costs, would they be included in the M12 rate?  I wouldn't have thought that would be a hard question.

MR. TETREAULT:  But it's a hypothetical, Mr. Wolnik.  I don't know whether those costs exist.  I can't speak to how those costs would be allocated without knowing whether those costs exist and what those costs might be.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, we will move on for now.

In terms of Union's south operations, Union has a set of in-franchise demands that vary throughout the day due to consumption drivers.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. TETREAULT:  It's fair.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And Union manages the supply and balancing for system customers; is that true?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's my understanding.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And for direct purchase customers, be they bundled or semi-unbundled customers, Union provides all of the balancing for these customers; is that true?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's true.

MR. WOLNIK:  And Union has very little unbundled load.  I think if I remember, in one of the earlier days, somebody mentioned 40,000 gJs a day.  I don't remember if that was a precise number, but it was a pretty small number relative to the rest of the demands on the system.

MR. TETREAULT:  I could take that subject to check.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So is it reasonable to assume that during these 13 F24-T nomination windows, that if Union needs to make an adjustment to the rest of the system to accommodate in-franchise demands, it's quite likely it would use those same windows to accommodate those in-franchise requirements?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I can confirm that, Mr. Wolnik.  You are outside of my area of expertise.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, is this something -- when you looked at this rate design, did you look into that at all?

MR. TETREAULT:  The rate design for F24, the incremental costs associated with that, are provided to the cost allocation rate design panel from the operational areas that facilitate the service.

MR. WOLNIK:  But in looking -- I mean, we talked earlier about some of the realignment of cost allocation methodologies.  This, in my mind, sort of fits into that category where there may be inequities.

So I am just trying to understand whether this is something you looked into or not.  By the sounds of it, you didn't.

MR. TETREAULT:  We have the costs from the operational areas that they've told us represent the incremental costs of providing F24 service, and we directly assign those per the approved rate design to M12.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am not really getting at the cost side of this.  We have settled on the costs.  This has really nothing to do with the costs.

I am just trying to understand how Union uses its system and whether or not -- in order to help balance in-franchise requirements, whether it adjusts its requirements at those 13 nomination windows, too.

MR. TETREAULT:  And I don't think this panel can assist you with that, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  I will move on, then.

So I understand that sort of the F24-T rate is designed to recover the incremental costs, and I appreciate that.  That is the settled issue, the cost side of this.

But we've got -- the southern customers use intra-day balancing.  We have a further 745,000 gJs a day of STS-related service that also use intra-day balancing.

And these O&M costs get allocated to -- I think they get allocated to the Dawn-Trafalgar system and are embedded in the M12 rates.

Are you aware of any credit -- to the extent that there is costs there, are you aware of any credit that F24-T customers receive as a result of Union providing these other nominations?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Wolnik, I wonder if you can rephrase.  I am not sure I understand the proposition you are putting to me.

MR. WOLNIK:  To the extent there is costs associated with operating the system to accommodate various intra-day demands for in-franchise requirements, and to the extent that there are costs - I'm not saying incremental costs, but just costs - associated with accommodating STS service, these additional four nomination windows -- we may not agree there are incremental costs, but there may be costs.

To the extent that those are embedded in the M12 delivery rate, the question is:  Do customers that have F24-T service that are paying the incremental cost, do they get any credit for -- in their delivery rate for the other costs associated with providing additional nomination services to these other markets?

MR. TETREAULT:  There is no credit associated with the F24 rate.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  So can you explain, then, if there are four nomination windows that you are providing STS customers, it is a reasonably similar service -- I appreciate there is more nomination windows for F24-T, but there is also double the volume of STS, or it appears to be there is double the volume of STS service.

So can you help me understand why you are not charging STS customers an incremental rate when you are charging F24-T customers an incremental rate, from first principles, from a rate-making perspective?

MR. TETREAULT:  As I said, Mr. Wolnik, I am not aware of whether there are any incremental costs, or not, associated with providing that service.

So I am not sure I am in a position to give you -- I am trying to be helpful, but I don't know that I have a better answer for you.

MR. WOLNIK:  You're saying there are no costs associated with --


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm saying I don't know.

MR. WOLNIK:  Let's assume there are.  It would seem to me logical that if there are four extra nomination windows, you can't do that without some effort.

MR. TETREAULT:  My answer remains the same.  I don't know.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I don't want to ask for an undertaking here, because I think it would be a lot of work to probably find those costs.  I am just looking for an acknowledgement that there may be some costs.

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.  I can't tell you how the operational groups facilitate STS.  It is outside of my area of expertise.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I think it would be a lot of work to ask for an undertaking, so I won't ask for that at this time.  I will deal with that in argument, I guess.

Let me ask you another question, then.  Should the costs associated with F24-T add-on just be included as part of the overall O&M cost to provide M12 service and the F24-T rate set at zero; just embed it in the overall O&M costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  The current cost allocation and approved rate design is to directly assign the incremental costs associated with F24, as we've done in the proposed rate that we have been discussing.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that is the current approved.  I guess we're looking at 2013.  This is a rebasing application.

So I am asking why -- given some of these other things that we've talked about, why not just set it at zero?

MR. TETREAULT:  I have no reason to believe that the current cost allocation, current rate design for F24, needs to change, needs to be different than what it is today or what it has been since the inception of the service.

MR. WOLNIK:  So notwithstanding that you are accommodating a somewhat similar service, is STS service double the volume?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I would like to move on to another area now.  This is kind of cost allocation and general rate design matters.

Mr. Tetreault, can you tell me what the original filed percentage rate increases, as well as the -- sort of the updated rate increase is as a result of the settlement agreement for Rate 20?  Do you recall what they were?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Wolnik, did you say the updated and the settlement filing?

MR. WOLNIK:  I would like both, so the original filing for rates 20, 25 and 100, the original filing plus the updated filing as a result of the partial settlement agreement.

MR. TETREAULT:  I will need a minute to find the original filing.

MR. WOLNIK:  I have them.  If you want to just confirm them, I can give them to you.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't you do that?

MR. WOLNIK:  So I have the original filing -- these came from -- at least on the updated basis -- from schedule -- H3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.

So for Rate 20, the original filing was 43 percent, approximately, and the updated filing was 33 percent.

Does that sound familiar?

MR. TETREAULT:  That does.  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And for Rate 25, it was 43 percent and 28 percent, roughly?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And for Rate 100, 29 percent and 29 percent?  Does that sound about right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it does.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So now I understand the reduction in the updated filing was as a result of the settlement, or partial settlement agreement, and some of the costs being settled on, so that brought the rates down; is that fair?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair.

MR. WOLNIK:  Except for Rate 100.  Can you explain why the rates for Rate 100 didn't come down?

MS. STEVENSON:  We provided the detail of the cost allocation of the settlement agreement at Exhibit G3, tab 1, schedule 4.

In that schedule, there is a specific line item for Rate 100, which shows, by cost item, the reductions that were made for, actually, all of the rate classes.  And it lays out the individual rate classes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Sorry, let me just -- oops, here we go.

MS. STEVENSON:  It is actually on page 2, you will see Rate 100.  So overall on the schedule you can see that Rate 100 has had a reduction.  However, I believe the rates quoted were the delivery rates, which is a combination of the reduced costs.

But there, you can see, by line item, which costs have changed, and it's really a factor of which items they are that drove the costs to decrease.

MR. WOLNIK:  So I am just trying to understand on a relative basis why, for Rate 20, for instance, the rate went down 10 percent, percentage points, and zero for Rate 100.  I guess I am not getting that out of the schedule.  Perhaps you can just explain it.

MS. STEVENSON:  It really depends on the costs that were reduced.  So certain costs were specific to general service; some were specific to different types of plant items or different cost of gas, which would have a different percentage allocation to Rate 100 in comparison to other rate classes.

So on a per-line item, it would be a different allocator in each case.

MR. WOLNIK:  We're talking about just the delivery rate, not cost of gas, right?

MS. STEVENSON:  In this case, yes.  But in this schedule, it shows both.

MR. WOLNIK:  So can you point out those things that went up and those things that went down and explain those?

So net plant went up, is that right, in line 1?

MS. STEVENSON:  That is correct.  There was a small increase there, for the fact that we reduced distribution plant for distribution mains in this case.

And there was a small indirect -- or an indirect allocation due to general plant costs, which caused an increase.

So as other costs went down, costs in this category for those rate classes went up proportionally.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you just point to the settlement agreement, which items in the settlement agreement would have resulted in that change?

MS. STEVENSON:  As a result of the 12 million in rate base reduction -- I don't have the line item from the settlement agreement, but the settlement agreement specified that there was a distribution plant reduction of $12 million.

MR. WOLNIK:  So how would that cause an increase to Rate 100?

MS. STEVENSON:  So when we made the change or the reduction, we weren't provided the specific plant account details, so we allocated those costs to the largest cost item in distribution, which was mains, for both north and south.

And in the north, it was allocated to distribution mains grid, which would have reduced Rate 1 and Rate 10.

And the increase is really a factor of the fact there is general plant costs allocated based on plant.  So because there was a decrease in other costs, in some areas, there was an offsetting increase to balance to zero.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am not a rate design expert, but I guess I am just having a real difficulty understanding how a reduction -- an overall reduction in net plant results in an increase to Rate 100.  I am troubled by that.

MR. TETREAULT:  As Ms. Stevenson said, the general plant is allocated in proportion to other rate base, and O&M.

So to the extent, for example, you have Rate 1 and Rate 10 rate base decrease, the allocation of general plant to Rate 1 and Rate 10 would also decrease.

And that would have an impact on rate classes that did not have their rate base decrease, and it would increase the allocation of general plant costs to those rate classes.

So, Mr. Wolnik, that is what you're seeing, for example, in Rate 100.

MR. WOLNIK:  That's helpful.  I guess my follow-up would be:  Is that reasonable?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And could you say why?  If you are reducing net -- why wouldn't you choose a plant type across all rate classes that would equally benefit it?

MR. TETREAULT:  Given we had a financial settlement, we are making a simplifying assumption.  And as Ms. Stevenson said, taking the largest distribution plant account in the north, which is mains and mains grid, specifically, and reducing rate base per that category, and the majority of that category would go to the Rate 01 and Rate 10 rate classes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.

I assume that rebasing applications is a fairly significant undertaking; is that fair?  Probably over many months, maybe years?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  That's fair.

MR. WOLNIK:  And so it is a lot of work.  Probably a lot of pieces come in at different times from different places, and it all comes together at some point prior to the filing; is that fair?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And so when you did that completed work, you saw some of the original outcomes.

When the rate increases for Rates 20, 25 and 100 came in at roughly 40 percent, did that bother you in any way?

MR. TETREAULT:  We were certainly cognizant of what was happening to those rates.

And I think you will see we've provided some IR responses to try to explain what is happening in the north, in general, as well as in those rate classes that you specifically mentioned.

MR. WOLNIK:  We'll come to that in a second.

So, well, as a result of that, did you sit down with senior management and explain to them the level of the increases that were occurring to the industrial rates in the north?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we did.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did they think it was reasonable?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, they did.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Let's go to that IR response, 
J.H-1-1-2(c), which is page 11 in my compendium.

So this is the IR response, and I think on page -- I think in the response to (c), you identified four different potential mitigation measures, and they were to phase in the higher equity component over four years with 1 percent a year, to change the weather-normalization method, and to assume that the FT RAM revenue would continue and credit it to the northern delivery rates, subject to a deferral account, and the last one was to finally adjust the revenue-to-cost ratios.

I would like to just maybe talk about each one of these a little bit.

So on the first one, in terms of the equity thickness phasing, I think I understand that concept.

Do you have an estimate of what the impact would be to these three rates for each 1 percent of equity that you would phase in over a period of time?

MR. TETREAULT:  There is an undertaking, Mr. Wolnik, that I need to turn up, that does touch on this --


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, great.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- matter to some degree.

MR. WOLNIK:  Great.

MR. TETREAULT:  I will need a second.  This undertaking is JT2.18, and this was an undertaking that I took as part of the technical conference.

Mr. Wolnik, if you turn to -- I guess if we start at the bottom of page 2, there is a correction in this undertaking relative to the IR response, and the original IR response referenced the fact that the revenue requirement impact associated with the change in capital structure was approximately $15 million.  Per this undertaking, we updated that to 17.3 million.

Essentially, there was an error in the original IR response.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.

MR. TETREAULT:  And if you turn the page, what we attempted to do in this undertaking is provide a sense for what the rate increases would be in the north and south if the revenue requirement only reflected an increase of 1 percent in equity thickness, so from 37 to -- sorry, from 36 to 37 percent.

And the result of that assumption relative to our filed rates is in the last paragraph -- sorry, the last paragraph of that part at the top of page 3 of 5.

And what that reference is is that the average increase in the north would be 18.3.  That is the average across all rate classes.  That is relative to our March filing, where the average was 20 percent, and then we have described that the Union south delivery rates would increase by an average of 5.6 relative to the March filing.

MR. WOLNIK:  That's interesting, but probably not helpful.  I think what I was looking for was specifically for the three rate categories we are talking about, Rate 20, 25 and 100.

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't have that level of detail.

MR. WOLNIK:  Is that something you can do by way of undertaking?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we can.

MR. SMITH:  We will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.6:  FOR RATES 20, 25 AND 100, TO PROVIDE RATE INCREASES FOR NORTH AND SOUTH IF THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT ONLY REFLECTED AN INCREASE OF 1 PERCENT IN EQUITY THICKNESS.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I know you included this as part of an IR response, this phasing in of the equity, but why not propose it in your application?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I missed the question, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I understand that you highlighted this issue as a potential mitigation measure in response to the Board Staff undertaking.

My question was:  Why not just make this part of your application as opposed to not having any mitigation measures in your application?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think Union's position, as reflected in the application, is that on the whole the application proposes rates that, in Union's view, are just and reasonable, and, for that reason, it filed the application that it did.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  Can we move on to number 2, then, on the weather normalization method?

Mr. Tetreault, can you help me out in understanding how much -- if you were to implement that, would that have any effect on rates 20, 25 and 100?  I should say any material effect.

MR. TETREAULT:  No, it wouldn't.

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  Thanks.

You also proposed, as a third measure, potential RAM credits.  And I think you had an undertaking this morning related to how you might deal with RAM credits.

Perhaps you could expand that undertaking or a separate undertaking to see -- to let me know how much these rates would be affected if you were to allocate some of those RAM credits to rates 20, 25 and 100.  Is that possible?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is possible.  We will do it.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.7:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO HOW MUCH RATES 20, 25 AND 100 WOULD BE AFFECTED IF SOME RAM CREDITS WERE ALLOCATED.

MR. WOLNIK:  And on the adjustment of cost-to-revenue ratios, can you just expand on that a little bit, how you would see that working if that would to be implemented here and what the effect would be on these three rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think it is difficult to say exactly what the effect would be on any given rate class.  The concept, though, of that response is that you would have a general shifting of costs from the north to the south.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it would be an issue of quantum.  If you did implement that, it would be a matter of how much you shift it; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  It would be a matter of what was done in terms of the shift.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And the one change in the -- in the implementation of the ROE formula, the new Board-approved formula from what was approved in the prior rate case, do you have an assessment of sort of how much that change in ROE would have impacted rates, again, these three rates?  I am just trying to get an understanding.

A lot of the -- as you can appreciate, a lot of the customers in that rate category were APPrO members, and they're quite concerned about the level of increase and they have asked for an explanation from me.  It is very difficult to tell them from that your rate application.

So getting a sense of these individual components would be helpful.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Wolnik, could you rephrase your question?  I am not sure I understood what you were asking the panel.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am just trying to get an understanding of how much the change in ROE from prior Board-approved numbers to the current formula method, as forecasted for 2013, has changed rates.  That's all.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.  I don't have that information with me.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, is that something you can do by way of undertaking?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.8:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO HOW MUCH CHANGE IN ROE FROM PRIOR BOARD-APPROVED NUMBERS TO THE CURRENT FORMULA METHOD, AS FORECASTED FOR 2013, HAS CHANGED RATES 20, 25 AND 100.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Wolnik, when you say how much it would increase rates, it would have the effect of increasing the revenue requirement, and then the revenue requirement would flow into the rates in a differential fashion.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So just so that we understand what the undertaking actually is, is it to describe the revenue requirement change, because I think that is on the record.

MR. SMITH:  No, I don't think -- I think what my friend wants to know is the parties, having agreed to the ROE formula, how much of that increase goes under the cost allocation method to the rate classes he has identified.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To these three rate classes?

MR. WOLNIK:  Exactly, exactly.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can we -- I understand, after you've done the revenue requirement, that the billing determinant has an impact on the rates.

Can you talk about the change in billing determinants for these three rates?  And it may be helpful to look at page 26 of the compendium.

And if it's helpful I worked out some percentages, if that would be more expedient to deal with my numbers as opposed to you having some thoughts on it, taking the time to look at it.

MR. TETREAULT:  Per page 26 of your compendium, Mr. Wolnik --


MR. WOLNIK:  That's JT2-21, attachment 2?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  You can see, in aggregate, for Rate 20 and Rate 100 -- I am looking at lines 5 through 8.  You can see the overall decrease in contracted demands for those two rate classes on a net basis.  It is approximately a decrease of 627 103 m3 per day.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I look at Rate 20.  Let's just disaggregate them.  I look at Rate 20 and it shows that -- in line 5 -- the 2013 filed numbers, and this is the demand of 3,580 103 m3 per day, and I look at the 2007 Board-approved at 2,423, I actually see -- my math shows that that is an increase in l billing determinants of 48 percent.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, for that rate class.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am trying to just reconcile an increase in billing determinants -- which would result in, absent no other changes, a reduction in rates -- and I am trying to reconcile with an increase, proposed increase of 43 percent in the original filing.

MR. TETREAULT:  I can't accept that an increase in billing determinants necessarily results in a decrease in rates.  For Rate 20, one of the - and this is why I spoke to Rate 20 and Rate 100 together - one of the things we're seeing in the forecast is that you have some rate class switching.  So you have customers moving, for example, from Rate 100 to Rate 20.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, can you show me that in lines 1 to 3 of this schedule?  Because you have customer accounts here.  I see Rate 100 remaining constant at 19, and I do see a decline in Rate 20 from 64 to two.

MR. TETREAULT:  You would have a number of customers switching, and those customers may have different contracted demands.  So your total number of customers in Rate 100 could stay the same, but the contract demands, as they have, could drop.

MR. WOLNIK:  Or they could increase.  In the case of Rate 20, they have increased 48 percent; that is what your numbers show.

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  So the billing determinants are going up 48 percent, even though there is a decline of two customers, and we're still seeing a significant rate increase.  I guess I am just not able to reconcile that in my mind.

MR. TETREAULT:  There would also be a change in cost associated with customers moving from Rate 100 to Rate 20.  So when those customers are forecasted to switch classes, that will change the cost allocation, as well.

So I can't accept that an increase in billing determinants necessarily results in a rate decrease.

It will depend, in large part, as to how costs between rate classes has changed, associated with rate class switching of the customers.

MR. WOLNIK:  At a high level, does it make sense that rates were going up in excess of 40 percent -- why you've got growth in the rate class?

I am just -- I'm not trying to nickels and dimes here.  I'm worried about the big-picture numbers.

It just doesn't make sense to me.

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  I believe it does make sense, based on the rate class switching that we have seen on a net basis between Rate 20 and Rate 100.

MR. WOLNIK:  Again, on a net basis, show me on lines 1 to 3 how there has been a switch.

MR. TETREAULT:  Well, clearly this particular attachment doesn't show that, that level of detail.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Can you talk about Rate 25 and the change in volumes on Rate 25?  And that's an interruptible rate; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.

MR. WOLNIK:  And my numbers show that -- and these would be on lines 9 through 12, under the column E for Rate 25 -- there's been an increase of 24,836 103 m3, which is about a 24 percent increase in throughput.

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Again, does an increase in billing determinants here -- I am trying to reconcile an increase in billing determinants and a substantial increase in rates.

MR. TETREAULT:  As I said, Mr. Wolnik, it's going to be a function of costs in the operating area.  It will also be a function of revenue, which of course ties to the volumes.  And, thirdly, it will be a function of the total change in annual volume.

So recognizing that you are speaking specifically to Rate 25, I think it is also important to recognize that in the north end total, volumes are down quite substantially.

MR. WOLNIK:  I recognize that.

MR. TETREAULT:  Somewhere in the order of 10 percent.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I think in Rate 100 it is actually even greater than 10 percent.  I think it's -- my numbers show 17 percent in throughput volume.

I acknowledge Rate 100 is going down, but the other rate classes seem to be going up, and I am just, again, having difficulty reconciling these cost allocations and these rate increases, given these numbers.

MR. TETREAULT:  I would add that Rate 1 and Rate 10 are also showing volume decreases relative to previous Board-approved.

So I don't think -- I don't think you can look at it, Mr. Wolnik, by focussing in on one number on this particular schedule as it relates to a particular Rate 25 volume forecast.

It is a function of, overall, what is happening in the north in terms of -- in terms of revenues and in terms of the allocated costs to the -- to the operating area.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we turn to page 14 of the compendium –- sorry, 17?  Which is G1, tab 1, appendix B, page 2.  So as I understand this list, these are some -- it appears that there's seven allocations or reallocations that you are proposing here.

And as I look down the list, there's two of these that have a relatively significant impact on the three rates that we've been talking about.

And these being on -- found on line 5, which is distribution, maintenance, equipment on customer's premises, and number 7, distribution north customer stations.

Is that fair, that these are the two big ones that affect these rate categories?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  So let's first talk about number 5, distribution, maintenance equipment on customer premises.

Can you first tell me what "equipment" means?

MS. STEVENSON:  When we looked at these costs, we determined that most of these costs were actually related to maintenance of customer stations.

MR. WOLNIK:  No, I understand that, because that's -- tell me what equipment, what equipment in the customer station is requiring this O&M expense?

Very specifically, what in the station is being maintained?

MS. STEVENSON:  I can't speak to that level of detail.  I can only speak to how we would see internal orders mapped, and I would need to work with the groups that do that work to get that level of detail.

But from what we did see, because the costs are all rolled up together, right, into similar type of maintenance work, and the costs in that category primarily related to customer station maintenance.

MR. WOLNIK:  So I look at number 4.  Let's kind of go to number 4 for a second, which is distribution, maintenance, meter and regulatory repair.

So is it fair to assume that the equipment in the customer station excludes meters and regulators?  Because if it was, it would be in this -- in line 4.  It would be covered in there?

MS. STEVENSON:  I think that's fair.  I might have to take that subject to check.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So what's left in the customer station, then?  Once you take out the meters and regulators, what's left?  Valves?  Piping?

MS. STEVENSON:  I can't speak to the specific mechanics of what's in the customer station.  It is not my area of expertise.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you are proposing reallocations here based on that.  So I guess I am a bit concerned that if you don't understand what you are reallocating, how do we know this has been done reasonably, whether this was a right reallocation?

MS. STEVENSON:  We have been told that the maintenance work is regarding customer stations, and our proposal is to allocate in proportion to customer stations.

MR. WOLNIK:  Just for clarity, the customer stations, is it fair to assume the customer station starts at the ricer valve at the end of a service and goes to the interface with the house piping of the customer?  Is that what you would call a customer station?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Wolnik, none of us are engineers, clearly.  I don't think we know the specifics of how a customer station is designed and how it is situated.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that is part of my concern here.

You're making significant changes in cost allocations, and you are not really understanding the implications or the nature of the work.

MR. TETREAULT:  But we do receive that, that information, directly from the source groups as part of the O&M budgeting process.  And those -- and the source groups themselves would be experts on exactly the type of O&M they're doing, and what that O&M would relate to, whether it is meters and regulators or other maintenance associated with the customer station.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you are not able to substantiate that independently at this time?


MS. STEVENSON:  We are dependent on the information we're provided from the areas with the expertise in those matters.


MR. WOLNIK:  And if that was wrong?


MR. TETREAULT:  We have no reason to believe it is incorrect.


MR. WOLNIK:  One of the descriptors in here, you talked about a historic allocator.  You are changing from historic allocator to a different allocator.  Can you tell me what the historical allocator was?


MR. STEVENSON:  The historic allocator was in Union south. The costs were allocated to M2.


MR. WOLNIK:  We're in the north here, rates 20, 25 and 100.


MS. STEVENSON:  My apologies.  I was looking at meters and regulator repairs.


In Union north, the historic allocator was allocating the majority of costs to general service.  The majority the costs were being directed to rate 1 at 98 percent and Rate 10 at 2 percent.


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, how did you get to those percentages?


MS. STEVENSON:  Since it was a historic allocator, we didn't have the information to recreate that information.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So --


MR. TETREAULT:  Which is part of the reason for our proposal in this case.


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, I understand.  So what's the current allocator?


MS. STEVENSON:  Sorry, the proposed allocator or the current?


MR. WOLNIK:  I'm sorry, the proposed, yes.


MS. STEVENSON:  The proposed allocator is allocating those costs, in proportion to customer station gross plant.


MR. WOLNIK:  And gross plant is similar to the origin in stalled cost; is that fair?


MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.  There would be no accumulated depreciation assumed in that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you take into account sort of the service call time required to do the maintenance on a station?


MS. STEVENSON:  We didn't look at service call time, because the service call time allocators allocate the majority of the costs to general service, and we know that customer stations are not typically held by smaller customers.


You would typically have your customer stations for larger customers, which there was no allocation in this case to contract rate classes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Is this one of those harmonizations between Union south and north?


MS. STEVENSON:  This was a harmonization in the sense that the allocators that we propose, we proposed the same approach for the north and south.


MR. WOLNIK:  The reason I ask that is because I just happen to have on my desk the map that your counsel handed out yesterday when TransCanada was on the stand showing the system through northern Ontario.


I don't know if there was an exhibit number, but my understanding is your franchise area in the north basically extends from the Manitoba border through the Quebec border; is that fair?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair.


MR. WOLNIK:  You serve all of the towns along the TransCanada Pipeline, plus a few others, like Sault Ste. Marie and Sudbury; is that fair?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair.


MR. WOLNIK:  Most of your customers are spread along the pipeline.  Do you have service centres in each one of those towns?


MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Wolnik.


MR. WOLNIK:  The reason I ask that is because I'm assuming that you don't.  It would be unreasonable to have service centres in each one of those towns.


And, as a result of that, in order to do a service call on a station - maybe you're in Ear Falls, for instance, which is north of Vermilion Bay - it would take some number of hours to physically, just physically, get there to do a service call, and that the actual amount of time required to do the work would be very much a function of just the physical driving time to get there and be much less dependent on the gross plant.  Does that seem unreasonable?


MR. TETREAULT:  That doesn't seem unreasonable, Mr. Wolnik, but we have come up with an allocator to harmonize both the north and the south in a way that we feel is reasonable and does better reflect cost causality than the current cost allocation.


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I guess that is what I'm challenging.  If you look at Union south -- I mean, the distance between the Manitoba border and the Quebec border, by my rough estimate, is in the order of about 1,500 kilometres.  Is that order of magnitude right?


MR. TETREAULT:  I will take it subject to check.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And in Union south it really -- I mean, you run from Windsor to Mississauga -- or Oakville, basically, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Essentially.


MR. WOLNIK:  250, maybe 300 kilometres?


MR. TETREAULT:  Again, subject to check.


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  So it wouldn't take very long to get to a service call.  If you're at the Brantford service centre, to get to Simcoe, it might be a 20-minute drive?


MR. TETREAULT:  I am not familiar with that area.  Again, I will take it subject to check to, Mr. Wolnik.


MR. WOLNIK:  My concern is you have not taken into account the geographical issues in the north, and you are trying to harmonize it with the south that geographically is functionally very different.  They're very different cost drivers.


MS. STEVENSON:  We haven't harmonized the costs, though, right?


MR. WOLNIK:  Not the cost.  The cost drivers.


MS. STEVENSON:  We still have to separate out the north costs and the south costs.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  But you are using the gross plant as the allocator, not the number of customers.  You are changing, I think, from -- perhaps maybe it wasn't number of customers.  I guess what I'm suggesting is number of customers plays a role here because -- because of the driving time to do a service call to do customer station maintenance.


MR. TETREAULT:  I can't agree, Mr. Wolnik, that number of customers plays a role here.


Again, I think what I can say is what I mentioned earlier.  We are looking to harmonize this particular cost-allocation methodology between the north and the south.  And, in our view, to allocate O&M associated with customer station, based on the gross plant associated with customer station, is a reasonable allocator.  Could there be alternatives to that?  Yes, but we feel our methodology, as proposed, is appropriate.


MR. WOLNIK:  Is it possible there could be more reasonable allocators?


MR. TETREAULT:  There could be.  Again, we are comfortable with what we are proposing here as an improvement over the current cost allocation, both in Union north and Union south.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  Again, going back to the question that I asked before about sort of the impact of some of these changes to rates, can you -- my estimate of the costs, roughly, to these three rate categories in aggregate is about $1.2 million.


Can you indicate what the rate impact is to each of these three rates?


MR. TETREAULT:  We can take a minute and do the math.


MR. WOLNIK:  Great.  Do you want to do it by way of undertaking?  I am happy to do that if it's easier.


MR. TETREAULT:  That's fine.


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  J11.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J11.9:  TO INDICATE RATE IMPACT TO THE THREE RATES.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can we now look at number 7, which is distribution north customer stations?  This deals with allocating the rate base; is that right?


MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And this is a change -- why are you making this change now?


MS. STEVENSON:  We recognize that the criteria for a customer station was a customer station that had an hourly consumption greater than 320 cubic metres, and not all Rate 10 customers would fit that criteria.


And the current methodology was allocating -- was -- on average, the number of customers was allocating 94 percent of the costs to Rate 10.  So there was a disconnect between the customers that would have a customer station by this definition and the costs the way they're being allocated.


MR. WOLNIK:  We will come to the detail in a minute.  Again, can you provide me with the estimate of the rate impact of the change to the three rate categories?


If you want to make it all the same undertaking, that's fine, the prior one.


MR. TETREAULT:  We can do that, Mr. Wolnik.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.  We have talked before about customer stations and we're still dealing with customer stations.  And as my understanding of customer stations - and you are happy to agree or disagree with me - that basically includes some valving, some pipe, meters and regulators, maybe even a relief valve.  Would you agree with that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not an engineer, Mr. Wolnik.  I will take that subject to check.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And you've talked about some of the reasons.  We've talked about sort of this -- you've mentioned this 320 cubic metres per hour.  How did you choose that hourly break point as the starting point for the allocator?


MS. STEVENSON:  It wasn't necessarily something we selected.  That was based on the plant accounting records and the costs they put into this account.  The definition that they use is it is a station greater than 320 cubic metres.  So the costs that we're allocating --


MR. WOLNIK:  So it's historically collected costs?


MS. STEVENSON:  It is currently.


MR. WOLNIK:  Currently, right, okay.  So I understand that.  Then as I understand what you have done is you've said, Okay, we will start with that 320 cubic metres per hour.  We will then multiply that by 20 hours a day and a 40 percent load factor to come up with an annual load of 934,000 metres cubed per hour; is that right?


MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that's what you are using as the -- it's the annual consumption numbers that drives this allocator; is that fair?


MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And you've determined no Rate 1 customers receive any of these allocations, and a few of the Rate 10 classes; is that right?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  The vast majority go into Rate 20 and 100?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Now, if we could turn to page 18 in the compendium, which is J.G-5-13-1, you have told us here that -- in (c), I asked you what the design criteria that Union uses to install -- to size and install meters.

And I think the answer on page 19, you confirm that peak hourly load and customer delivery pressures are used as a design criteria.

Now, Mr. Tetreault, you said you are not an engineer more than once today, but it's my understanding that capital costs are really driven by the design criteria; does that sound unreasonable? 

MR. TETREAULT:  No, that is reasonable.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And can you confirm in this response you didn't include annual consumption as a design criterion? 

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So basically, if we have two customer stations side by side, each with the same -- designed to the same criteria, and let's say it is at least 320 m3 per hour, one is an industrial customer that has a higher usage, a higher annual consumption, and one with a low load factor with lower annual usage, the one with the lower annual usage would not attract these higher fees and the bigger one would, the one with the higher annual consumption would; is that correct? 

MR. TETREAULT:  The one with -- the customer with the lower annual consumption would not be included in the allocator of customer station plant costs.

However, to the extent those two customers in your example are in the same rate class, they would obviously pay for -- for a portion of those costs that have been allocated to that rate class.

Mr. WOLNIK:  That's a good distinction, yes.  Okay.

So in the same IR, I asked you in parts (f) and (g) to actually look at allocating.  In (f), we asked you to allocate customers' costs for the north by rate category, as opposed – sorry, as proposed by Union for the 2013 -- based on the 2013 annual consumption of 934,400 meters cubed per year.

Then in (g), the same thing, but using the hourly load as the allocator; correct? 

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And if we go to -- you provided your responses in attachment 1 and 2, but sort of in reverse order.

And for attachment 1, which is -- well, let's -- which I understand has also been updated and corrected, I think.  Mr. Ripley has a corrected version. 

[Mr. Ripley passes out corrected version of the table]


MR. WOLNIK:  So at attachment 1, this was the allocations -- or, I guess, the number of customers in the gross plant, based on the hourly load of 320 or greater, right?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in attachment 2 is what is proposed by Union; is that fair? 

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And there's quite a difference in Rates 20, 25 and 100, in terms of the gross plant, and hence the allocation of costs between these two attachments; is that fair?

MS. STEVENSON:  There is a difference in the allocation, yes, that you can see there.

MR. WOLNIK:  This difference would result in Rates 20, 25 and 100 picking up a substantially greater portion of the costs?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's right.  10 goes down; the others would be -- pick up a higher portion.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  In fact, if you look at 10, it is really substantially different.

In attachment 2, there is only 37 customers included here in attachment 2, but in attachment 1 it is 337, so that is a pretty big difference. 

I appreciate that the gross plant is not quite as big, as big a difference.

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct. 

MR. SMITH:  Is that a question? 

MR. TETREAULT:  All right.  We weren't sure.

[Laughter]


MR. WOLNIK:  I'm sorry.  One other thing I wanted to pick up on.  On attachment 1, under Rate 25, you show two customers; is that right? 

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.  The reason for the difference is, as it notes in that footnote there, these were the actual number of customer -- customer accounts.

And so these would be the Rate 25 customers that only have a Rate 25 service, and typically Rate 25 is a companion service, so they would often have a Rate 20 component or Rate 100 component, as well.

MR. WOLNIK:  It is my understanding, if there was a companion service to a Rate 20 or a Rate 100, that there aren't two meters or customer stations at these locations, right?  There is just one station, and the contracted load is taken first and then, to the extent the customer wants more load, that would be just the add-on volume for that day or that month or year, whatever the period of -- billing period is; is that fair? 

MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair.

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So when we look at attachment 2, line 5, we look at 61 customer stations.  And we look at the gross plant associated with that; it is in the order of $10 million.

And in the attachment 1, it is only 128,000. 

So when you use this as an allocator, it seems to me that you have double-counted the station costs for Rate 25, because you have said that it's a companion service and the goes through the meters for Rate 10, 20 or 100. 

MR. TETREAULT:  No, I can't agree with you, Mr. Wolnik, that we have double-counted the costs.

What is important to remember is that the current cost allocation methodology for this particular item is based on the average number of customers in a rate class, excluding Rate 01.

And the result of the current allocation is that, in our view, a disproportionate amount of the costs were being allocated to Rate 10, by virtue of the fact that they would be the majority of the customers in those classes.

So for us, with this proposal, it was important to maintain an allocation methodology that was consistent with the Board-approved methodology.  And by virtue of that, we have chosen an allocation methodology that is still based on average number of customers in the rate classes. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, when you did Rate 25, did you use 61 customers or two? 

MS. STEVENSON:  Two is not the forecast number of customers.  That is the current count exclusive to Rate --


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, how many are you forecasting for 2013? 

MS. STEVENSON:  Pardon me?

MR. WOLNIK:  How many are you forecasting?

MS. STEVENSON:  I can't say I know exactly the number of customers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Would it be three? 

MS. STEVENSON:  That only have Rate 25 service?  Sixty-one is the number of customers that would have a Rate 25 service. 

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And what I am trying to understand here is what costs -- north -- I guess what costs related to north customer stations' plant are you allocating to Rate 25?

Is it being done on the basis of the allocator of the proportion that the Rate 25 gross plant represents to the total plant?

So roughly 10-thirtieths, if I look at column B on attachment 2, and line 5 and 6?  I take 10,287 over 29,965, so roughly a third?  Is that what I understand you are using? 

MS. STEVENSON:  That is the proposal, yes, as outlined.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you're saying that these two customers, today, are using one-third of the gross plant? 

MR. TETREAULT:  As I mentioned, Mr. Wolnik, we were trying to maintain an allocation methodology consistent with current Board-approved, which is based on average number of customers.

And the proposed allocation you see on attachment 2 represents our new methodology to maintain that base methodology, excluding the Rate 10 customers that fall below the volume threshold.

Again, it was important for us to maintain an allocation methodology that was consistent with Board-approved.  We feel that that is reasonable and results in a reasonable cost allocation.

MR. WOLNIK:  Again, I just -- let's put aside existing approvals.

Are you saying that these two customers that take Rate 25 or -- Rate 25 gas are bearing one-third of the total rate base of customer stations in the north?

Yes or no is fine. 

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Wolnik.  Could you repeat the question?

MR. WOLNIK:  Are you telling us that one-third of the rate base for customer stations are being borne by

Rate 25 customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  That is not -- that's not what we're saying.  We are allocating these costs based on average number of customers, and the forecast average number of customers in Rate 25 is the 61 customers that you see on attachment 2.

MR. WOLNIK:  And those same -- 59 of those 61 customers also have a meter in Rate 100, Rate 20 or Rate 10; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  They would have a firm service to accompany their interruptible service.

MR. WOLNIK:  So this would add on -- the Rate 25 is a companion service to those other three rate categories; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  You're saying that a third of the rate base is related to that Rate 25?

MR. TETREAULT:  Based on our proposal, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  I know it is based on your proposal.  And you still think that is reasonable?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Can we now go to -- I think I am over my hourly estimate, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Yes, you are.  How much longer?

MR. WOLNIK:  I probably have maybe 15 minutes.  Can we go to page 17 of the compendium, which is -- I'm sorry.  That is the wrong reference.  Pardon me.

Twenty-two.  We had asked for a detailed explanation by rate class of the rationale for the significant rate increases in this IR.  Is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And you pointed us to a Board Staff IR, J.H-1-1-2(a); is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that is at page -- I think that is on page -- sorry.  That is on page 11.  We looked at that earlier, on page 11.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we did.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you confirm nothing in here talks about any of those three rate categories in terms of specifically -- I know there is some high-level information in here, but you haven't mentioned Rate 20, 25 or 100 in here, have you?

MR. TETREAULT:  There is information at the rate class level in the attachments, but in the body of the IR response, that is correct.  We were looking at the north operating area and the drivers for the rate increases as a whole.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right, okay.  And we had this discussion in the technical conference, and you provided some additional information as a result of that in JT2.21, attachment 1, which is page 25 of the compendium.

In here, you provided a lot more information by rate class and some of the various cost categories.

This, too, has pretty small print.  We sort of had this -- got into this discussion before just in terms of trying to rationalize the cost increases and some of the volume changes, and understanding, again, the overall impact of the rates, and I guess I am still not quite there yet.

Going down the left-hand side, we see major cost categories and net plant and the drivers of return, debt, equity, taxes; right?  Then the depreciation expense, which comes from net plant.

Then we've got line 11, which deals with cost of gas, and we're not talking about cost of gas here.  I am only interested in delivery rates.

Then from lines 12, I think, through to 17 deal with O&M costs; is that fair?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And if I look at Rate 20 -- I am focussing mostly on the right-third of this table, because in here you show the difference between 2013 proposed rates and 2007 Board-approved rates; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, we do.

MR. WOLNIK:  Those are the ones I'm primarily focussing on.  I have looked at the increases and divided them by the 2007 base rates.  I see that, for instance, Rate 20 has increased by 69 percent.  That is the two-eight-nine-zero divided by the -- in line c) the four-one-eight-four, about 69 percent?

MR. TETREAULT:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in Rate 100, there's been a very modest increase of about 3 percent, and a very significant increase for Rate 25 of 125 percent.  So you've had substantial increases in O&M costs.

If we look up at line -- I guess we need to add line 7 and 10 together to get the rate base implications, but there's been some fairly significant increases in those costs, as well.  So these don't have anything to do with volumes.  These are just straight costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you enlighten us at all in terms of why these costs are increasing to the extent that they are, 125 percent from 2007, for instance, for Rate 25 O&M costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  What you will see, Mr. Wolnik, in this attachment is a series - I think there's seven or eight - of footnotes along the left-hand side.

MR. WOLNIK:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TETREAULT:  Obviously those footnotes tie back to various explanations, and the explanations are found in the IR we were referring to earlier, which is the JH-1-1-2 IR response to Board Staff.

MR. WOLNIK:  But very high-level information.  Can you tell us practically what these things refer to?

MR. TETREAULT:  If we -- if you could turn up 
J.H-1-1-2, the explanation of the cost drivers for north rates begins at the top of page 3.

And, again, as I mentioned, these are what that attachment in the undertaking refer back to.  So, for example, one of the explanations for the rate increases is related to local storage in the north, local storage being the Hagar LNG facility.  And relative to '07 levels, we have seen rate base associated with Hagar increase.

And, of course, this was filed based on the March filing, this particular IR response, but, as an example, you can see that the revenue requirement impact of the rate base change for Hagar is approximately $0.9 million.

MR. WOLNIK:  I see that.  So should your customers in the north be concerned?  If these are the type of rate increases we're seeing over the last five years, should customers in the north expect this on an ongoing basis?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't think I can speak to the future, Mr. Wolnik.  Obviously we're dealing with the utility test year forecast, and our rate proposals for the north, there certainly are some rate increases there that are greater than what we're seeing in the southern operating area.

MR. WOLNIK:  Again, these are cost increases, so they're not necessarily volumes -- I appreciate volumes have an implication, too.

I guess I am just trying to understand whether -- because of the of rate increases that are occurring here, your customers -- and you're familiar with this application.  You put it together, so you should understand the cost drivers.

Do you expect these cost drivers to continue to increase and should customers in the north be concerned?

MR. TETREAULT:  Again, I don't think I can speak to what the future may hold.

I can tell you that rates have been essentially flat across -- all of Union's distribution rates have essentially been flat since 2007, but based on the revenue deficiency by operating area, we are seeing the rate impacts we have been discussing specific to Rate 20, Rate 25 and Rate 100.

MR. WOLNIK:  Any other explanations you would like to offer for these rate increases?

MR. TETREAULT:  We can certainly go through them.  They're all referenced beginning on page 3 of JH-1-1-2.

MR. WOLNIK:  It's pretty hard, those, for a customer to look at these -- a Rate 20 or Rate 100 customer to look at this and say, These are the very specific drivers impacting my rate; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  We have to --


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I mean, I understand if what we're talking about is a cost allocation in rate design question, but we do have a comprehensive settlement on O&M and on rate base, and I am somewhat troubled by a line of examination, if what my friend is trying to establish is that the amounts parties have agreed to were incorrect or should have been something else.

I mean, if my friend's question is, Should the costs that parties have agreed to be allocated differently, that's fine.  I don't have a problem with that.

But I do have a concern with what I think is an indirect attack on something parties have already agreed to.

MR. WOLNIK:  That wasn't the intent, Madam Chair.  I will move on.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  We've talked about the level of increases here.  To the extent that the Board requires Union to mitigate the rate increases to a maximum of, for instance, 10 percent for 2013, can you provide specific mitigation measures that Union would employ, and the impact of each?

MR. TETREAULT:  What I can refer you to, Mr. Wolnik, is -- it is page 14 of your compendium.

It is the -- towards the end of the J.H-1-1-2 IR.  I am on the bottom of page 4 of that IR.

And as we mentioned in this IR, we feel that our rates are just and reasonable, that they reflect the revenue deficiency by operating area.

That said, in order to be helpful for the Board in their determinations, we did -- we did outline four possible mitigation tools that the Board may want to consider.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And all I am asking you is to go to the next step and to identify sort of the magnitude of the impact of those, those measures.  And to the extent that they're not enough or insufficient to get to a 10 percent level increase, what other measures would you implement, by order of priority?

MR. SMITH:  Well, sorry.  If my friend -- if my friend is -- well, I'm not quite sure I understand.

If we're being asked to cap it at 10 percent, then the answer is we wouldn't recover the revenue deficiency, which we would say would result in rates that are not -- by definition, not just and reasonable.

If my friend is asking, of the four options, which one does Union prefer, maybe that is a separate question.

MS. HARE:  Well, you know, the 10 percent isn't taken out of the air.  It is something the Board has used in the past.  It is not a hard line that it's 10 percent, but it has been used.

So I think what Mr. Wolnik is asking is:  Which of those or how many, in combination, would have to be used to get to 10 percent?

MR. SMITH:  10 percent per year?

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's fine.  I misunderstood the question.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That's an undertaking, J11.10. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.10: TO EXPLAIN WHAT OTHER MEASURES, BY ORDER OF PRIORITY, COULD BE USED TO REACH 10 PERCENT THRESHOLD, IF THE FOUR MITIGATION TOOLS WERE INSUFFICIENT.

MR. WOLNIK:  Just two very quick other areas.

In terms of the Rate T1/T2 split -- and I don't have any reference for this -- I just want to understand:  Does the proposed rate reflect reallocations?

I think one of the reasons for the change, in addition to size, was that most of the new T2 customers would be off transmission systems.

So did the cost allocation reflect a decline in distribution main costs in the rate design?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it would have.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And -- I think we have answered that.  That's fine.  Thank you, panel and members.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will take our break now, returning at, say, 3:15.  I would like to know who is up next, though, and the time estimate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Everyone's looking at me?

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I am up next, and I have put down 15 minutes to half an hour.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Then after you, Mr. Buonaguro?

Mr. Brett?  And how long will you be?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, 10 minutes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So we will have time for yet a third cross-examiner - I am looking at Mr. MacIntosh - I suspect will be shorter than Mr. Quinn.

[Laughter]


MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, that might be so, but, Madam Chair, I am here on Monday anyway on another matter.  So I am quite happy for Mr. Quinn to go forward.

MS. HARE:  All right.  How long do you think you will be?

MR. QUINN:  A half-hour or 45 minutes.  My original estimate was an hour.  I have told counsel it was a half-hour, 45 minutes, and...

MS. HARE:  So depending how it goes, we may complete your cross-examination today.

And Mr. Thompson, then, were you coming on Monday, in any event?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I am willing to return on Monday, if necessary.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.

So we will return at 3:15.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:23 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro -- oh, I'm sorry.  

Mr. Smith, you have a preliminary matter?
Preliminary Matters:


MR SMITH:  I do have a preliminary matter.  I thought I should make a comment with respect to the clean-up panel or other alternatives, and I am not sure the Panel will like what I have to say, or not.

But this suggestion was raised on day 8, and it came at the time we were talking about Parkway West.  And what the Panel indicated was, if there are unresolved questions at the end of the next panel, whether we will need a panel at the end, what used to be called a clean-up panel, in order to address things that are still unresolved.

And, in my submission, that should really be what we are talking about, and I've -- we have taken many, many undertakings through this, and we are working very hard on answering them to the best of our ability and to be comprehensive in the responses.

I have not been made aware at this point of any unresolved issue, and, in my submission, we don't plan on calling a clean-up panel, and I don't think it would be appropriate for parties to be again a further opportunity to ask additional questions.

In my submission, there is a very full discovery process provided by the Board, and there is a very full technical conference procedure with undertakings and a very full hearing procedure.  We are obviously doing our best to meet all of the requests.

MS. HARE:  Well, Mr. Smith, I think the Panel's view is this is your case to make.  So if you don't want to put a final panel up, that is up to you.

However, parties may have questions about some of the undertakings, and they may be questions, not necessarily follow-up, to have an undertaking on an undertaking, but just to understand.

So I think then what we should do is follow Mr. Thompson's suggestion that if there are such questions on the undertakings so far, that they be put in writing so that somebody can respond on Monday.  There may not be very much.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I guess I'm at a disadvantage, because I don't know what it is that we may be asked, and perhaps I should just see what comes in and reflect on it.

Obviously I think the only fair process, from the applicant's perspective, would be questions that are truly outstanding from the undertakings which have been asked, and anything else, you know, we will deal with that I think in a very fair way.

MS. HARE:  Why don't we proceed on that premise --


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  -- and see what comes in over the weekend.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  So with that, Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.

I am going to start with a quick follow-up on some questioning from my friend, Mr. Wolnik.  In part of his cross-examination, he took you to J.H-1-1-2, page 5 of 5.

This was option 4 in terms of what I will call rate mitigation measures that Union has considered.  Do you see that?  It is on the screen.  It is very short.

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I just want to be crystal clear about what that proposal is.

That proposal, for example, would see the revenue-to-cost ratios in some of the southern rate classes, which may be at or near 100 percent, be increased, to increase the revenue beyond -- sorry, to increase the revenue collected from those classes beyond what the cost allocation model allocates to them in order to take that excess revenue and apply to the credit of northern customers.  That's what that means; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, you might -- and, of course, you characterize it in terms of the Board making such a finding of appropriateness with respect to this.  You would, for example, take the M1 class, which is a southern class, and bump its revenue-to-cost ratio, for argument's sake, up to 110 percent and take that excess revenue and apply it to decrease the revenue-to-cost ratio for another class in the north?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  That would be the impact of letting revenue-to-cost ratios float, if you will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, I think you would agree with me that in regulatory terms, we would call that a cross-subsidy?

MR. TETREAULT:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I know notice the way you characterize the answer here on page 5, it says the Board could find that.  It occurred to me that means that -- or maybe you can answer me -- you can tell me.  Would Union ever propose this as a legitimate way of dealing with rate mitigation?

MR. TETREAULT:  Union is not proposing option 4.  As I mentioned earlier, in regards to this IR response, we are comfortable that our rate proposals are just and reasonable.

However, to assist the Board, we did want to provide them some considerations as they deliberate on the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I guess my question went a little bit further.  I said would you ever advocate for this type of rate mitigation?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, I would not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  With that, I am going to move on to some questions about the M1/M2 split proposal.  Just for a good reference point, I would like to look at H1, tab 1, page 19.  This is -- well, maybe you better go to page 17.  This is table 5, which describes the general service rate class profiles for Union south.  It shows your volume breakpoint analysis.

Do you see that?

MR. PANKRAC:  At table 5?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you've gone through the proposal in some detail with Mr. Shepherd and I don't intend to try to duplicate any of that, and I expect you might hear some more from him on Monday.

I wanted to just get a general overview of what is going on here, okay?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in terms of the first step in the rate design or the proposal to review and come up with an alternate volume breakpoint for these classes, my understanding is this table for Union south, in particular, basically represents the analysis that was done; is that fair?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's this type of analysis that underpins the decision whether you can usefully move from a 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint to some other breakpoint?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  When we assess - and we have given you the rate criteria by which we assess sound rate classes - this is the process we would go through.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then for you, considerations about how you translate whatever rate design proposal you consider to be the most appropriate, how you translate into rates is where you have to think about how to properly move costs between classes when customers are moving between classes?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And you talked about that with Mr. Shepherd to some extent yesterday.

My understanding is that for the purposes of making a proposal to implement your breakpoint of 5,000 cubic metres, you had to make certain assumptions in order to fit the new customers moving from one class to another into the overall cost allocation; is that fair?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  We had to reallocate the general service costs by operating area, and then come up with reasonable factors which closely proxy the cost study to make that redetermination of costs for each of those classes; that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you talk about those -- I think you used the word "weightings", but if you didn't, I'm going to.  You came up with weightings of 1.0 for residential, and 1.5 for commercial and 2.0 for industrial customers in order to, I guess, translate or proxy a movement of costs between classes as those types of customers move from one class to another?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  For the customer-related costs, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that that's identical to what happened in the 2005-0520 case?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.  The same factors were used in coming up with that determination of splitting the general service rate class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the question that leaps to my mind - and I think it was touched on by Mr. Shepherd, but I wanted to see if I could get a more detailed answer from you - is why you wouldn't run a full cost allocation, which presumably is what the weightings are a proxy for?

MR. PANKRAC:  Based on the forecast data, you don't have all of the detailed material that you would need to feed a detailed cost study.  

For example, for each of those subcategories you would have to come up with an appropriate design day.  You would have to take it back to your engineering people, and break up that forecast and do things.

And so what you have is you already have means of proxying that, that take you very close to what your final numbers will be.

And so similar to what we did in 2007, we are taking that same approach.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now -- but I would assume that eventually, though, you want to do a proper cost allocation; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess if I make a -- by comparison, in the previous case, the EB-2005-0520 case, the proposed split in that case was implemented for the first time in the 2008 rate year; is that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.  Our proposal was to implement it in the year following, as we are proposing now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And also with reference to that implementation, the first time that those costs were moved from relying on the proxy to being implemented in a full cost allocation would be -- I guess it would be this case; is that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  I'm sorry, could you repeat your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, when you implemented the rates in 2008, you used this, what we have been calling the proxy method, the weighting method, to allocate the costs, or to bring the costs from one class to another.

And I am assuming that the first time that the new rate class was subject to a full cost allocation was in this case, for the 2013 rates, since this is the first time you have had cost of service since then?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, so that tells us that, at the outside, it would be about a -- I guess it's a five- or six-year gap between the first time you implement the rates and the first time you could legitimately incorporate those new rate classes into a full cost allocation.

Can you give me an idea of what, maybe, a shorter time frame would be to do that reasonably, from the time that you can first implement the new rate classes to the time that you can incorporate them reliably into a full cost allocation?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think the next time we would incorporate the new rate classes, if approved by the Board, would be at the time of our next cost of service proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I understand you probably say that because that would be the time you would normally do a full cost of service –- sorry, that would be the time you would normally endeavour to do a full cost allocation, is in a cost of service proceeding?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now -- but I would assume that technically you could do one earlier, if it was necessary?

MR. PANKRAC:  I think the purpose of gaining experience with it is to be sure that our engineering groups and all the groups that are involved in getting all of that detail to do a proper allocation study kind of also have to rework their models, and have to get everything, so that meaningful data can be determined.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to another topic, and for this I am going to start with a reference at -- you have to be careful with this, whoever is dealing with the computer --

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Buonaguro, before you move on, I need to clarify --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. TAYLOR:  -- what I have heard and what I heard from yesterday.

So we want to move the break point from 50,000 to 5,000 meters cubed, and that will result in the allocation -- reallocation of general service costs?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  And for the purposes of the 2008 year, so the effective date of year 2008 rates, you used weightings of, I believe, 0.5, one and one and a half or two; is that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.  We use the weighted --

MS. TAYLOR:  So for the purposes of 2013 rates, we have not done a new cost allocation study to lower the break point; is that for 2013 or 2014, just to keep this all straight in my mind?  The break point change is '13 or '14?

MR. TETREAULT:  2014.

MR. PANKRAC:  2014.

MS. TAYLOR:  Have you or have you not done a new full cost allocation to move the costing associated with that break point?

MR. TETREAULT:  There is not a full 2014 cost allocation study, but there is a cost allocation methodology that we're using to re-split the M1, M2 and Rate 1 and Rate 10 classes, which is consistent with what Union did as a result of the 2007 decision to split what was at that time the M2 rate class into M1 and M2.

So it is a methodology --

MS. TAYLOR:  No, I just want to be clear you haven't changed the methodology from the last case to this case, notwithstanding the fact that we've got a six-year gap and you had plenty of time to do a full cost allocation study; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure I understand the reference to a six-year gap, Member Taylor.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, the last time we did a cost allocation change would have been for rates effective 2008; is that correct?  And we used a methodology to allocate?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  We would have had --

MS. TAYLOR:  A proxy?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm sorry.

MS. TAYLOR:  It was a proxy approach?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  You're suggesting that for the 2014 change, you would also like to use those proxies, as well; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Based on the fully allocated 2013 cost allocation study.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just so I am clear, because I think I maybe led you down this way, coming into 2013 you did a fully updated cost allocation study, which incorporated the existing rates, including the M1 and M2 split, based on the 50,000 volume?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the issue we're talking about now is after having done that for 2013, and which will be implemented in 2013, you are proposing a further adjustment to the classes, which will take effect in 2014; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for that to happen, you are saying we have to use the proxy method in the first instance; correct?  Without a new cost allocation study?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then after you have some experience with the new rate classes, you will be in the same position; you will be able to do a full cost allocation to incorporate the new classes into the new full cost allocation?

MR. TETREAULT:  Similar to what we have done for 2013 to reflect the M1, M2 split that was approved several years earlier.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. TETREAULT:  Same methodology.  Same process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thanks.  Now, I am pulling up Exhibit H3 -- just a moment.  This is from the March 27th evidence, so it is not going to help if you pull up, as you have on the screen, the '07, the July 13th update.

So I am dealing with the March 27th Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2 of 2.  And it refers to...

MR. PANKRAC:  Your reference is Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, page 2 of 2.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  That is the March filing, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  And I reference it because these are the figures from before the settlement conference, or before the settlement proposal was input, I believe.

I am looking in particular -- if it's on the screen -- that's page 1 of 2.  I am looking at page 2 of 2.  Thank you.

If you look at column E, row 8, there is a figure of negative 2,853.  Do you see that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that relates to S&T margin; is that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And generally speaking it is included in the revenue deficiency calculation, in the sense that you take that -- at that time -- margin of $20,853,000 and you distribute it amongst the classes, and it affects the revenue that is collected from those classes?

MR. PANKRAC:  Exactly right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to be clear, and specific to this time, March date, this is a forecast of actual margin for S&T revenue?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, given the March filing.  That number has since been updated to 23,903 in the July filing, but it is the number you have indicated in the March filing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I want to be clear about that, because it has nothing -- that is the actual margin before any allocation issues between rate classes.

MR. TETREAULT:  That's the total forecast at the S&T transactional margin.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, if you go a page earlier, so this is page 1 of Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And just so I am sure I understand, we have, under column D, proposed revenue requirement, and for each rate class we have a figure usually in the millions; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that, as I understand it, that is the revenue requirement that is output from the full cost allocation study based on the 2013 revenue requirement; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct, for the existing classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it is based on cost allocation principles?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And if you were to collect revenue from any particular class or propose to collect revenue from any particular class of that much, you would get a revenue-to-cost ratio of 100 percent?

MR. PANKRAC:  Exactly right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then right next to it, we have column (e), which is labelled "Revenue Deficiency/Sufficiency", and then after that we have "Proposed Revenue" in column (f).  I am trying to understand the relationship between the three.

Now, I understand from the face of it that (e) equals (f) minus (d), which means that the revenue deficiency or sufficiency is simply the product of subtracting the proposed revenue in column (f) from the proposed revenue requirement in (d); correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that gets you a revenue -- in almost every case, that is a revenue deficiency which affects the revenue-to-cost ratio driving at below one for most classes?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What is happening there -- and if you look at the very bottom of column (e) we have an overall revenue deficiency of 20,864,000?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that that directly corresponds to the S&T revenue?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I don't think the numbers match up exactly.  Maybe it has to do with rounding, but I suspect that that number was supposed to exactly equal the S&T revenue?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  If you flip over to the next page, you can see that there is a small amount related to northern transportation and storage of 12 that appears at line 6(e).

And so, cumulatively, at line 8(e) you have the twenty-eight-five-three credit which corresponds with the transactional credits in total.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that explains the minor variance.

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.

MR. BUONGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, that means -- now, if we go to the proposed revenue line --


MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- am I correct that the proposed revenue line is a judgment call?

MR. PANKRAC:  It reflects the application of all of the factors we have identified in rate design, for example, maintaining the rate continuum, maintaining the revenue-to-cost ratios, maintaining by operating area a reasonable relationship, a reasonable proportion of costs in terms of the recovery of the deficiency.

So there is a number of factors that are very explicit that we've used in coming up with what we credit to each class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But in total -- now, when you say "credit to each class", let me understand that.

You start off with the proposed revenue requirement in (d), which would be 100 percent recovery from every class, and then I'm going to shorten what you say and say you exercise judgment based on certain principles.

So when I say "exercise judgment", I don't mean to say that's not what you're -- it doesn't import all of those things you've just talked about.

MR. PANKRAC:  That's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You said you exercised judgment to reduce, in most cases, the revenue requirement -- sorry, the revenue from any particular class in order to achieve a revenue deficiency, and then that revenue deficiency is entirely offset by the S&T revenue?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the allocation of S&T revenue is purely based on your exercise of judgment, with all of the qualifiers you gave me?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So unlike the cost allocation exercise, which spits out column (d), which is the costs that are being allocated to each class and which is essentially automatic once you've come up with your cost allocation methodology, what you actually charged each class is a matter of this judgment we have been talking about?

MR. PANKRAC:  Judgment based on the principles I have outlined.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, for example, when we look at the R1 class and we see a revenue deficiency/sufficiency of negative 2,716,000, in reviewing all of the principles you were talking about, or guidelines, in terms of exercising your judgment, you decided that you wanted to get a result of -- a resulting revenue-to-cost ratio of 0.984, which is in column (h), which gives you a rate change of 17.7 percent.  That's a decision; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the same for Rate 10, where you allocate $21,000 worth of S&T revenue to produce a rate change of 15.5 percent?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you probably anticipate where I may be going with this.

If we go down to M1, we don't have a negative entry there.  We have a positive entry of 460,000.  Do you see that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that means that, as I understand it, even though the total column is reconciled to the S&T margin, you have actually charged essentially the M1 class increasing the costs -- sorry, increasing the revenue you are going to collect for them beyond the costs that are allocated to them; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So they end up to a revenue-to-cost ratio in (h) of 1.001?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As we talked about at the outset of my cross-examination, once you go above 1.0, in regulatory terms we call that some level of cross-subsidization between rate classes, because somebody is getting the credit of that $460,000; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is in excess of the costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Can you tell me how it is that you were exercising judgment in charging an additional $460,000 to the M1 class when you only had twenty-point -- I believe it is, eight-five-three million dollars' worth of S&T revenue to allocate across the rate classes?

MR. PANKRAC:  The main drivers for those decisions are - and we identified this in our evidence - that if you look at revenue to cost for both rate 1 and Rate 100 and rate M1 and T1, which are kind of the benchmarks, is that the attempt is to maintain those costs close to unity.

In addition to that, what we have done, as you can see if you compare line 1(i) of 17.7 percent with the global change for the operating area with line 6(i), you can see that the recovery in the small volume class very closely approximates the average recovery for the entire operating area.

And if you look at rate M1 of 6-1/2 percent at line 8(i), it very closely approximates the overall global recovery that you have at line 17 of 7 percent.

In other words, how we have set those rates achieves two goals.  It achieves the average recovery by operating area, and it maintains in both cases revenue-to-cost ratios that are at or near unity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That was more complicated than I anticipated.  I'm not saying it is not right.  I'm saying it is complicated.

MR. TETREAULT:  If I could perhaps describe it in a different way.  You see, we were speaking of the debit in M1 of 460,000.

Probably the clearest answer is that we had to debit M1 because we needed that S&T transactional margin in other rate classes in the south to manage rate continuum, to manage the rate impacts in other rate classes, still trying to achieve, as Mr. Pankrac said, a revenue-to-cost ratio in M1 that is close to unity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I want to very clear, though.  You referred to the $460,000 as a debit to the S&T margin just now.  Did I hear that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  It is -- it would be -- the total S&T transactional margin has not changed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. TETREAULT:  Essentially, M1 did not receive any of that margin, and we recouped an additional 460 from M1 to use that credit elsewhere in the south to manage rate impacts, rate continuity, et cetera.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So to be clear, then, first, what I understood from that is that M1 didn't receive any benefit of S&T margin?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So from the perspective of an M1 customer, your S&T margin could be zero and it wouldn't matter to them, since they're not getting allocated any part of it?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on top of that, you over-allocated revenue requirement in the order of 460,000 to the M1 specifically to offset impacts on other rate classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am going to move to -- I'm going to move to the updated version of this, because I want to understand what happened there.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Buonaguro, just before you do that, can I just stay here?  And perhaps you have already addressed this, and if you have, then I apologize.

It's not clear to me off the top the rationale for -- if you have a $20,854,000 -- sorry, I can't read that number, I am going blind -- revenue deficiency from the storage and transportation business, the trading, I suppose, if that is what that is.

How did you decide -- it looks like you split it down the middle, almost, between the north and the south.  Can you just tell me what the -- or direct me to a specific piece of the evidence where you decide what should go to the north delivery area versus the south? 

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't believe there is anything in the prefiled written that speaks to that, but I can certainly explain the methodology.

What we tried to do was, by operating area, recover the same proportion of the deficiency.  And I will -- it's best to walk through the numbers.

And what you can see on -- in column C, line 6, a total north delivery revenue deficiency before the application of S&T transactional margin to the north, of 46.3 million.

And then, if we look at column F, and it is actually line 7, the line below, you will see the proposed revenue.  In other words, the increase in revenue is 35.9 million. 

The difference between those two numbers is the S&T transactional margin.  And Mr. Pankrac is doing some math for me here, but what this will show is that there is a certain proportion of the deficiency that we are recovering by increasing rates, and there's a proportion of the deficiency that is addressed through S&T transactional margin.  I believe it is somewhere in the neighbourhood of 74 percent, 77 percent.

And we have taken the same exercise in the south, so if we were to compare --


MS. TAYLOR:  Just back up.  74 and 77 percent, just explain those numbers to me again.

MR. TETREAULT:  So of the total revenue deficiency in the north, per column C --


MS. TAYLOR:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- line 6, of 46 million, revenue or rates are increasing by 35.9. 

MS. TAYLOR:  Right.

MR. TETREAULT:  So relative to the deficiency, proposed revenue is increasing by -- excuse me, it is 77 percent of the proposed deficiency.

The remaining deficiency is recovered by streaming the difference to the north, in terms of S&T transactional margin.

So you will see, as a result, there is approximately 10.4 in S&T transactional margin credited to the north.

MS. TAYLOR:  And you would see that repeated for this south.  So the revenue deficiencies in both north and south are very similar? 

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  And that is the principle we have used, is to recover in proposed revenue the same proportion of the revenue deficiency by operating area.  And the effect of that is, at least in the March filing, was that approximately 50 percent of S&T transactional margin went to the north, and the other 50 percent would have been streamed to the south operating area.

MS. TAYLOR:  The difficulty I have, I guess, with that is -- if I could get you to show the rest of the screen -- is it is resulting in very large increases in the north, potentially.  And one of the factors contributing to -- so I will let Mr. Buonaguro continue.

MR. TETREAULT:  The fact that we have streamed 50 percent of the S&T transactional margin to the north is actually a greater percentage than we have in the past - the '07 rate case, for example - and the reason we streamed 50 percent of that transactional margin was to help mitigate, as best we could, the rate impacts in the north. 

MS. TAYLOR:  And if I could just maybe, then, get you to tell me whether this is fair or not, because we did look at with the previous supply portfolio, the supply panel, specifically some of the transportation arrangements were focussed on the north.

So my question is:  Is the 50/50, I guess, streaming - in effect, what this is - fair, in the fact that what we had was a bunch of RAM credits generated by what I would describe as lots of firm transportation service for the north?

It seems that those were the source of a lot of STS trading revenues, suggesting that maybe this allocation isn't necessarily correct, give the demand charges that the north is inherently paying.

MR. TETREAULT:  However, there is no FT RAM revenue forecasted in 2013.  So the S&T transactional margin wouldn't include any of that, of that revenue.

MS. TAYLOR:  But historically? 

MR. TETREAULT:  Pardon me? 

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, that's okay.  Fine.  You have answered it.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  The interrogatory, Member Taylor, also addresses this point about, if you -- if the Board were inclined to mitigate rate impacts in the north further, and the Board were to establish a deferral account and the Board were to include FT RAM in that, then following the logic you have proposed, the natural would be to stream that to the north, which would drive the rates further down. 

MS. TAYLOR:  But -- I will let Mr. Buonaguro continue. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Generally speaking, then, what I am getting from that conversation -- and thank you for that -- the allocation of S&T revenue across rate classes, as you described, has nothing to do with what we would call a normal allocation of the revenue based on how it was generated.  The driving force behind it is to mitigate rate impacts in particular rate classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  To manage rate impacts to manage continuity between rate classes, to manage revenue-to-cost ratios.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I were to in layman's -- give a layman's term to the S&T transactional margin, the way it is allocated, it sounds like it is a bit of a slush fund. 

MR. TETREAULT:  I wouldn't describe it as a slush fund, but clearly there is judgment that goes into how to credit those amounts to rate classes.

And in this case, we needed to stream more S&T transactional margin to the north, in particular, based on the rate impacts or rate increases we were seeing in the north.

So there is prudent judgment involved in doing that, absolutely. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I didn't ask you if there was prudent judgment.  I apologize.  That wasn't my question.  Thank you.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to -- I want to take you to the updated version of this.

First, my understanding is that -- well, I was about to say I will put it up on the screen, but I don't have that power anymore.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you will see H3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1 of 2, which is from the July 13th.  My understanding is that this reflects an increase in the S&T transactional margin?  Perhaps you can quantify that for me.

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the 23,913,000 at the bottom of column E?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  And if you turn up the next page, at the top, you can see that there is a net credit, which takes you back to the 23,903,000, which appears at 
line 8 (e).

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that is the -- again, before any kind of allocation issues, that is actual S&T margin in an updated forecast? 

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, going back to page 1 -- I should also say I think this is -- I believe this exhibit is after the results of the settlement proposal? 

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So -- and I won't take you to it, but for example, if we look at the M1 class, there is a new proposed revenue requirement.  It is now 396,000 -- sorry, 396,023,000, which is down from something over 400 million in the application?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we go over to the next column, you will recall that in the prefiled evidence, the debit - if we can call it that - against the M1 class was 460,000 and now it is 1,136,000.  Do you see that? 

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So what that tells me is that, as a result of increased S&T margin, we are debiting a further 670 or so thousand dollars against the M1 class, which is still not receiving any of the benefit from the S&T transaction margin; is that fair? 

MR. PANKRAC:  I agree that the rate M1 class is not receiving the benefit of any of the updated margin.

There is no linkage between the amount of the margin and the way we have allocated it to rate classes.

The linkage is with the rate continuum and with all of our rate design principles.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I am trying to understand that, though, because this is the settlement proposal revenue requirement, which means that, I think without exception across the board, everybody's -- every class's revenue requirement went down; is that fair?  In column D? 

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  To some degree, and certainly for some classes more than others.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And at the same time, S&T margin went up, which means there was -- if the principles you are using to allocate the S&T margin are acceptable -- I can't necessarily concede at this point that they are, from our point of view -- but if they're acceptable, you actually had extra margin to distribute on top of the revenue deficiency -- sorry, on top of the revenue requirement reduction? 

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  An extra 2 million or so, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In the context of that, you decided that you were going to allocate an additional $670,000 to the M1 class? 

MR. PANKRAC: That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  Because when we look at the rates and we look at the rate continuum, and we look at the relative revenue-to-cost ratios and all of the factors we have identified, that was the amount we needed to balance the rate continuum for the southern market, and also to manage the relative deficiencies of the other rate classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fine.  So in simple terms, I understand what you're saying about the S&T margin.  You're telling me the fact that S&T margin went up didn't drive this increased allocation in the M1 class?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I will take that.  But what you're telling me is that as the actual allocated costs go down across the board, including to the M1 class, you, I guess I'd call it, feel more comfortable over-allocating revenue to the M1 class.  So you've gone -- if you look in the revenue-to-cost ratios, you have gone from 1.001 to 1.003?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  That is the effect of our proposal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I would suggest, then, in the same way that you are using the S&T margin to mitigate rate effects across the board as a bit of a slush fund, it seems like the M1 class has become a bit of a slush fund the same way; isn't that true?

MR. PANKRAC:  I think when you look at the revenue-to-cost ratio and the fact that it's 3-1/100ths or 3-1/1000s of a percent within unity, and when you look at historic revenue-to-cost ratios for that market, revenue-to-cost ratios in the general service markets historically have been as high as 1.02.

So if you look at some of the approved decisions, there has been recognition that, in fact, the general service class may, in fact, over-recover and that that is appropriate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Thanks, Madam Chair, Panel.

Good afternoon, panel.  I am Tom Brett.  I represent the Building Owners & Managers Association.

Mr. Tetreault, could I ask you to turn up the description in the H binder, the description of the Rate 20, northern Rate 20?

Now, there are no numbers on this page, but I think the way to do this is to look at Exhibit H3, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2, if you could do that, and then look at the next page, because the next page after that page starts this description of each of the rate classes, okay -- each of the rates, rather.

But what I want you to end up with in front of you is the description you have in your evidence of the Rate 10.

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Brett, I just want to make sure I have the reference correct.  You said H3, tab 2?

MR. BRETT:  That is the closest page with a number I can find.  H3, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2.

MR. TETREAULT:  My apologies, I misunderstood.  It appears to be in H3, tab 3.

MR. BRETT:  That's correct.  Well, I actually -- all right.  I have it as -- okay, it may be misplaced.  I have H3, tab 2.  But, in any event, can you turn up the description of the Rate 10?

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I would like you to go over to the second page of that description.  Do you have that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. BRETT:  If you look at the terms and conditions of service, I would like you to look at number 5, in particular, the last item on the terms and conditions of service and it says, and I will just read it out here:
"The identified rates (excluding gas supply charges, if applicable) represent maximum prices for service.  These rates may change periodically."


Then I want you to focus on this sentence:
"Multi-year prices may also be negotiated, which may be higher than the identified rates."


Do you see that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. BRETT:  Now, am I reading that correctly to say that in dealing with a Rate 10 customer Union can -- in certain circumstances to be defined, I suppose, can negotiate a multi-year price with that customer for transportation, and that price may be higher than the rates that are set in this rate schedule; is that fair?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TETREAULT:  I apologize, Mr. Brett.  Could you repeat your question for me?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  My question was:  Looking at that sentence that I read out to you, does that mean to you -- is that meant to mean that Union can negotiate a multi-year price with a Rate 10 client which may be higher than the identified rate in the rate schedule?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  Mr. Brett, to answer your question, that clause appears not only in Rate 10.  It appears in all our rate classes, and it allows for the possibility of negotiating a multi-year price.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  It appears in all of your northern rate classes; in other words, Rate 10, Rate 20, Rate 25 and Rate 100.  Are you saying that it also appears in your southern rate classes?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And have you -- you know, could you tell me, either one of you, any of you, how long those words have been in that -- in the rate class -- sorry, in the terms and conditions of service of your various rate classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know offhand, Mr. Brett.

MR. KITCHEN:  It was added to the rate schedules.

MS. HARE:  Are you giving evidence now?

MR. KITCHEN:  I can tell you when it was added, because I was part of adding it.

MR. SMITH:  My clean-up panel.

MR. KITCHEN:  Just so -- it is a simple response.  It was added when we entered our first PBR back in 1999.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, what year was that?

MR. KITCHEN:  It would have been added after the 1999 case.  So 2000 probably was the first year.

MR. BRETT:  Now, the next question I have is:  Have you exercised that option ever, since it was -- since this option was -- for a multi-year fixed price above the rate was put in your rate handbook -- or in these terms and conditions?  Have you done that, or do you know?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know.

MR. BRETT:  You don't know?  Could you find out if you have done that over the next -- over that period of time?  I guess what I would like to know is:  If you have done it, how frequently you have done it and, you know, the term of the multi-year rate.

Give us some description of what you have actually done.  You don't have to name names, but I would like to understand how many times you have exercised that, at what terms, and let's say for what volumes with each of the rate classes, each of your northern and southern rate classes.  Would you undertake to do that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.11:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO HOW MANY TIMES UNION HAS NEGOTIATED MULTI-YEAR PRICE WITH ANY NORTHERN AND SOUTHERN RATE CLASS, AT WHAT TERMS, AND FOR WHAT VOLUMES.

MR. BRETT:  Now, in the event that you -- in the event that you have done that, and I don't know whether you have, but you will tell us that, and you would recover revenues, then, as I understand this, higher than the forecast revenues for the rate class, could you tell me, did your cost allocation study or your rate design say where those extra revenues would go?

For example, is there a deferral account that would apply to such revenues, or would they go to the shareholder?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Brett, given I am not sure how we have exercised that clause in the rate schedules, I don't know that I could -- I could comment.

MR. BRETT:  Would it be possible for you to add that to the undertaking response?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you very much.  Now, further on that term and condition, it says in the preceding sentence:
"The identified rates (excluding gas supply charges, if applicable) represent maximum prices for service."

And my question is:  Am I to take from that that you can discount your rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  No.

MR. BRETT:  So could you tell me, what is the import of saying that the identified rates for Rate 10 or for any of these other rate classes represent maximum prices?


MR. TETREAULT:  Essentially, maximum price represents cost-based rates. 


MR. BRETT:  All right.  So -- but you are clarifying for me that you -- the rates you must charge -- or that you cannot charge a rate lower than the rates specified in the rate schedule?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Mr. MacIntosh?  I'm sorry, how long did you say you would be? 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Oh, probably not more than 10 minutes.  Mr. Buonaguro was kind enough to cover some of the area I was interested in.


MS. HARE:  Okay. 

Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh:

MR. MacINTOSH:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is David MacIntosh and I am here for Energy Probe. 


I had some follow-up questions on an Energy Probe interrogatory response, and that is at J.H-1-3-1. 


Now, looking at the response to (c), we were referred to Board Staff IR response J.H-1-1-2, part (c), and I wonder if you could turn that up. 


Do you agree that the response does not specifically address the question of rate impact mitigation for customers in the north? 


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm just flipping back to your IR, Mr. MacIntosh.  I think the responses are consistent.  Your question, your IR asked for some understanding of rate mitigation measures, and as I look at J.H-1-1-2, Union has outlined four rate mitigation measures for the Board to consider in determining just and reasonable rates.


So I would say there's a consistency between -- between your IR question and the response in the other IR. 


MR. MacINTOSH:  What would be the impact of the first three listed mitigation measures on customers in the north? 


MR. SMITH:  I believe we gave an undertaking earlier to specifically identify those, and each of the three rate classes were northern rate classes.


MS. HARE:  That was the undertaking that Mr. Wolnik asked for?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Does that include everything that you are after, Mr. MacIntosh? 


MR. MacINTOSH:  I'm sorry?


MS. HARE:  Does that include everything that you are after?


MR. MacINTOSH:  I believe so.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe your mic is not turned on.  You might want to reset it. 


MS. HARE:  It appears to be on. 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Now, if we could turn to the fourth measure, can you confirm if this response proposes a cross-subsidy between the south and the north rates, or just changing revenue-to-cost ratios in each service area?


MR. TETREAULT:  I can confirm that it represents a cross-subsidy. 


MR. MacINTOSH:  And could you tell me if there were any other rate impact mitigation measures that had been considered by Union that would assist customers in the north?


MR. TETREAULT:  The rate mitigation measure we have incorporated into our proposed rates relates back to a discussion I was having with Mr. Buonaguro, and that was the discussion on the amount of S&T transactional margin that has been streamed to north rates, which is -- which is a higher proportion of total S&T transactional margin than would have been streamed to north rates in 2007. 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are all of the questions Mr. Buonaguro left me.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.


I don't think there is any point in having Mr. Quinn start cross-examination for 10 minutes. 


MR. QUINN:  No.  I am comfortable with that.  In fact, there were some recently filed undertakings that I would like to actually take a look at to make sure they're responsive, and it may limit some of what I ask for this panel.  So I think it would be helpful just to start up on Monday.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.


Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could ask something of you.  On Monday, Mr. Aiken is also involved in the technical conference with Enersource; actually, he is acting for Energy Probe in that case.  So I am wondering if it would be possible for him to go first on Monday.


MS. HARE:  That would be fine.


MR. MacINTOSH:  I think it would be less disruption in the other case.


MS. HARE:  What time does that other case start? 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Same time.


MS. HARE:  Same time?  Okay.  Fine.  Mr. Aiken can go first.  Now, is that going to upset anybody else that is going on Monday? 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think Mr. Shepherd is supposed to be in that technical conference.


MR. MacINTOSH:  As well, but I believe he has --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I don't think there is anything you can really do to fix everything.


MS. HARE:  Well, nobody is here to speak for him.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, I will speak for him.


[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sure he's listening.


MR. SMITH:  I am not sure that's going to be satisfactory to Mr. Shepherd, but that is between you and him.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Sure.  That is fine.  Mr. Aiken can go first.  And then when Mr. Shepherd is here he might indicate when it is most suitable for him to go, whether it is after that or end of the day.  We will see.


Mr. Quinn, are you also in the Enersource?


MR. QUINN:  No, I am not in the Enersource.  And I am willing to be flexible, so I can send an e-mail to Mr. Aiken and Mr. Shepherd, to say that I am willing to be flexible in and around what they need to get their priority.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, I don't think is in Enersource, so --


MR. MacINTOSH:  No, he is not.


MR. QUINN:  No.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Very good.  Thank you.


We are adjourned, then, until Monday at 9:30.  Thank you. 


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:22 p.m.
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